GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF CHILDHOOD BONE HEALTH

by

Kelly Amanda Johnson

BS, University of Maryland, College Park, 2014

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Department of Human Genetics in the Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science and Master of Public Health

University of Pittsburgh

2016

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This thesis was presented

by

Kelly Amanda Johnson

It was defended on

April 5, 2016

and approved by

Committee Chair: John R. Shaffer, PhD

Assistant Professor, Department of Human Genetics Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Committee Member: Andrea L. Durst, MS, DrPH, LCGC Assistant Professor and Assistant Director of Genetic Counseling Program Department of Human Genetics Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

> **Committee Member:** Allison L. Kuipers, PhD Visiting Assistant Professor, Department of Epidemiology Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Copyright © by Kelly Johnson

2016

GENOME- WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF CHILDHOOD BONE HEALTH

Kelly Johnson, MS/MPH

University of Pittsburgh, 2016

ABSTRACT

Osteoporosis is a major public health concern characterized by low bone mineral density (BMD) and deterioration of bone tissue, causing increased bone fragility and risk of fracture. Though current research has focused primarily on bone health in the elderly, early bone health, including peak BMD attainment, is a strong predictor of bone health later in life. Twin and family studies have demonstrated a strong genetic component in peak BMD, though the specific genes influencing variation in bone development are largely unknown. Moreover, the question of whether the genes influencing bone health during childhood are the same as those influencing bone health later in life is currently unknown. Therefore, to identify variants and genes implicated in childhood bone health, we performed separate genome-wide association studies (GWAS) for ten bone health phenotypes (bone mineral content [BMC] and BMD of the hip, spine, and head, BMC of the whole body, and four measures of hip geometry) in 296 Caucasian children aged 5 years (mean = 5.3) who were enrolled in the Iowa Bone Development Study. Linear regression while adjusting for sex, height, and weight was used to test 548,051 genetic polymorphisms and 7.4 million imputed variants for evidence of association. Genomic regions showing statistical association were scrutinized for relevant gene functions related to bone biology. Five genomewide significant ($P \le 5x10^{-8}$) and 30 suggestive ($P < 10^{-6}$) loci were identified in total. Implicated genes may represent significant roles in the converging pathways that regulate BMD, embryonic bone development, and bone remodeling. Furthermore, understanding the genetic determinants of

bone health during childhood may have implications across the lifespan. Though osteoporosis is usually viewed as an age-related disorder, risk of osteoporosis is impacted much earlier in life, including phases of bone mineral acquisition during youth. Therefore, the public health significance of this study is that identifying the genetic factors contributing to early skeletal health may ultimately lead to screening programs, which identify children with a genetic predisposition to bone disease. This allows for targeted interventions to optimize bone health in adolescence, promote management of bone health across the lifespan, and lower risk for osteoporosis later in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFA	CEXIII
1.0	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	BACKGROUND
	1.1.1 Bone Function and Composition
	1.1.2 Bone Cells
	1.1.3 Bone Mineral Density and Content5
	1.1.3.1 Bone Densitometry in Children and Adolescents
	1.1.4 Peak Bone Mass 6
	1.1.5 Genetic Regulators of Bone Biology7
	1.1.5.1 Candidate Genes Implicated in Previous Literature
	1.1.5.2 Previous Published GWAS of Bone Health
	1.1.5.3 Polymorphisms Known to Influence BMD10
	1.1.5.4 Genetic Syndromes Associated with Low BMD 11
	1.1.5.5 Agonistic Pleiotropy12
	1.1.6 Environmental Factors and Regulators of Bone Health
	1.1.6.1 Nutrients 13
	1.1.6.2 Physical Activity15
	1.1.6.3 Hormones16
	1.1.7 Osteoporosis 18
	1.1.7.1 Osteoporosis and Public Health Burden18
	1.1.7.2 Risk Factors for Osteoporosis

		1	.1.7.3 Current Interventions for Osteoporosis
	1.2	I	PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE OF GWAS OF CHILDHOOD BONE
	PHI	ENOTY	23 YPES
	1.3	ŀ	RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND SPECIFIC AIMS 24
		1.3.1	Research Questions
		1.3.2	Specific Aims
2.0		MET	HODS
	2.1	S	TUDY POPULATION
	2.2	F	BONE PHENOTYPES
	2.3	(COVARIATES 28
	2.4	(GENOTYPING AND IMPUTATION 28
	2.5	F	PRINCIPAL COMPONENTS OF ANCESTRY 29
	2.6	S	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS AND RESULTS ANNOTATION
3.0		RESU	JLTS
	3.1	F	BONE MINERAL DENSITY GWAS 35
		3.1.1	Hip Bone Mineral Density GWAS
		3.1.2	Spine Bone Mineral Density GWAS 40
		3.1.3	Head Bone Mineral Density GWAS 41
	3.2	F	30NE MINERAL CONTENT GWAS 42
		3.2.1	Hip Bone Mineral Content GWAS 42
		3.2.2	Spine Bone Mineral Content GWAS 44
		3.2.3	Head Bone Mineral Content GWAS 45
		3.2.4	Whole Body (Excluding Head) Bone Mineral Content GWAS 47

	3.3	ł	BONE GEOMETRY GWAS	49
		3.3.1	Femoral Neck Cross-Sectional Area GWAS	50
		3.3.2	Femoral Neck Section Modulus GWAS	52
		3.3.3	Femoral Neck Width GWAS	58
4.0		DISC	USSION	60
	4.1	Ι	LIMITATIONS	67
	4.2	I	FUTURE WORK	69
		4.2.1	A Priori Research	69
		4.2.2	Genetic Risk Score	70
		4.2.3	Longitudinal Data	71
	4.3	(CONCLUSIONS	71
5.0		PUBL	IC HEALTH APPLICATION	73
	5.1	I	PREVIOUS EXAMPLES OF PUBLIC HEALTH GENETIC SCREEN	ING
	PRO	OGRA	MS	74
	5.2	ł	PROPOSAL FOR BONE HEALTH SCREENING	77
	5.3	ł	PROPOSED INTERVENTIONS	80
	5.4	Ι	NTERVENTION OUTCOMES AND EVALUATIONS	84
	5.5	ł	ROLES OF A GENETIC COUNSELOR	87
API	PENI	okz'c⊰	I GPGUPGI J DQTKPI 'I Y CUUKI PKHKECPV'NQEK'	90
API	PENI	DIX B≺	NQEWU\ QQO 'RNQVU'QH'UWI I GUVKXG'NQEK0000000	91
API	PENI	OIX C<	S S RNQVUHQT 'DQP G'RJ @ QV[RGU0	104
BIB	LIO	GRAPI	HY	110

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Candidate Genes of Bone Development from Previous Literature	8
Table 2: Genetic Syndromes Associated with Low BMD	12
Table 3: Filters Included for Association	
Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Study Population	
Table 5: Genomic Inflation Factor Values for Bone Phenotypes	35
Table 6: GWAS Findings for BMD Phenotypes	35
Table 7: Suggestive Genes Associated with Hip BMD	
Table 8: Suggestive Genes Associated with Spine BMD	40
Table 9: Suggestive Genes Associated with Head BMD	41
Table 10: GWAS Findings for BMC Phenotypes	42
Table 11: Suggestive Genes Associated with Spine BMC	45
Table 12: Suggestive Genes Associated with Head BMC	47
Table 13: Suggestive Genes Associated with Whole Body (Excluding Head) BMC	49
Table 14: GWAS Findings for Bone Geometry Phenotypes	50
Table 15: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck CSA	52
Table 16: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck Section Modulus	57
Table 17: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck Width	59

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Manhattan Plot for Hip BMD	36
Figure 2: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Hip BMD	36
Figure 3: Manhattan Plot for Spine BMD	40
Figure 4: Manhattan Plot for Head BMD	41
Figure 5: Manhattan Plot for Hip BMC	42
Figure 6: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Hip BMC	43
Figure 7: Manhattan Plot for Spine BMC	44
Figure 8: Manhattan Plot for Head BMC	46
Figure 9: Manhattan Plot for Whole Body (Excluding Head) BMC	48
Figure 10: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Neck CSA	50
Figure 11: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated Femoral Neck CSA	51
Figure 12: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Section Modulus	53
Figure 13: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Femoral Neck Section M	odulus
	53
Figure 14: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Femoral Neck Section M	odulus
	55
Figure 15: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Neck Width	58
Figure 16: Pathway of COL11A1 Interactions	63
Figure 17: Pathway of COL13A1 Interactions	64
Figure 18: Pathway of HOXD Gene Cluster Interactions	65
Figure 19: Pathway for TRAT1 and NAV3 Gene Interactions	66

Figure 20: Logic Model	85
Figure 21: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #1	91
Figure 22: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #2	92
Figure 23: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #3	92
Figure 24: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMC Suggestive Locus #1	93
Figure 25: LocusZoom Plot for Spine BMC Suggestive Locus #1	94
Figure 26: LocusZoom Plot for Spine BMC Suggestive Locus #2	94
Figure 27: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #1	95
Figure 28: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #2	95
Figure 29: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #3	96
Figure 30: LocusZoom Plot for Whole Body BMC (Excluding Head) Suggestive Locus #1	96
Figure 31: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck CSA Suggestive Locus #1	97
Figure 32: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck CSA Suggestive Loci #2	97
Figure 33: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #1	98
Figure 34: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #2	98
Figure 35: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #3	99
Figure 36: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #4	99
Figure 37: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #5	. 100
Figure 38: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #6	. 100
Figure 39: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #7	. 101
Figure 40: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #8	. 101
Figure 41: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #1	. 102
Figure 42: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #2	. 102

Figure 43: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #3	103
Figure 44: QQ Plot for Hip BMD	
Figure 45: QQ Plot for Spine BMD	105
Figure 46: QQ Plot for Head BMD	105
Figure 47: QQ Plot for Spine BMC	106
Figure 48: QQ Plot for Hip BMC	106
Figure 49: QQ Plot for Head BMC	107
Figure 50: QQ Plot for Whole Body BMC (Excluding Head)	107
Figure 51: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck Width	
Figure 52: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus	108
Figure 53: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck CSA	109

PREFACE

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the individuals that helped me through this process. First, I would like to thank the dedicated members of my committee for their critiques, suggestions, and comments on my thesis. I thank my thesis advisor and research mentor, Dr. John Shaffer, for all of his patience, support, and encouragement over the past two years. He has been an amazing teacher and person to get to know!

I would like to thank Dr. Robin Grubs and Dr. Andrea Durst for their continual support and guidance throughout my time in the Genetic Counseling Program at the University of Pittsburgh. I would like to thank Dr. Candace Kammerer for her help and support in my Public Health Genetics training and in the development of my proposed public application of this study.

I would like to thank my family and friends for the words of advice, pep talks, and encouragement throughout my graduate training.

Lastly, I would like to thank my genetic counseling program classmates. They have become my Pittsburgh family and will be lifelong friends. Their kind support, many laughs, and great friendship has gotten me through this crazy process and I will forever cherish them.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Skeletal health is instrumental to overall health and longevity. While some consider the skeleton as hard and lifeless, bones are in actuality living, growing tissue that have a major impact on overall health¹. Bones have many functions in the body including providing structural support, protecting organs, fastening muscles and storing essential minerals^{2,3}. Healthy bones are vital at every age and many factors affect bone health. However, poor bone health and bone disease represent a defining health problem of our aging society. This represents a serious public health threat due to adverse health consequences related to poor bone health, morbidity, and expensive treatment costs. Bone health is, therefore an important subject of research with the ultimate goal of improving disease prevention and treatment⁴.

While we can take steps that optimize strong and healthy bones, understanding the molecular processes and regulation of bone growth and remodeling may allow us to implement new, targeted interventions. Bone is a rigid yet dynamic organ, which is constantly being molded, shaped and mended. Bone microarchitecture is determined by the physiological needs of the organism with the aim of maximum strength with minimal mass⁵. Throughout life, bone is continuously being built–up (bone formation) and broken down (bone resorption) as the result of many tightly regulated pathways. The current understanding of the contributors to bone health is that there are multiple factors including a strong genetic contribution^{6,7}. While the knowledge of the specific genes that regulate bone growth has dramatically increased over the last decade, there

is still a large gap in our understanding of the genes responsible for bone variability and the interaction of multiple genes with each other and with environmental factors across the lifespan. The following sections present a comprehensive review of the current state of knowledge of the field.

1.1 BACKGROUND

1.1.1 Bone Function and Composition

Bone is a unique and highly specialized connective tissue that provides several essential functions for the body. The primary function of bone is to provide mechanical support and to provide a shield for the body's internal organs and tissues. Bone also acts a reservoir for minerals essential for many cellular processes of the body⁸.

Morphologically, there are two forms of bone. First, accounting for approximately 80% of skeletal mass is cortical or compact bone⁸. Cortical bone is located in the shaft regions of long bones and is found primarily in the appendicular skeleton, such as the radius in the arm or the femur in the leg. Cortical bone provides the greatest mechanical and protective properties of bone because it consists of densely packed collagen fibrils, which causes cortical bone to be stiffer and stronger than trabecular bone, the other type of bone^{7,9}. Trabecular or cancellous bone consists of a porous network, which allows this type of bone more flexibility. Trabecular bone is located in bone cortex and at the ends of long bones. This type of bone predominates the axial skeleton, such as the ribs and the spine. Due to its composition, the primary function of trabecular bone is metabolic functions, such as regulating calcium homeostasis⁸.

The three major components of bone are the specialized bone cells, organic matrix, and mineral. Approximately 70% of mature bone consists of mineral⁹. The skeleton provides the major source of many essential minerals; these minerals are released when bone is broken down. The organic matrix is mostly comprised of calcium and phosphate crystals. Smaller amounts of magnesium, carbonate, and sodium are also found. The mineral crystals provide rigidity and the load-bearing strength of bones. Additionally, the distribution and size of mineral crystals within the bone matrix influence mechanical properties⁸.

Approximately 30% of bone mass is organic matrix, of which the major constituent is type 1 collagen. Collagen fibrils play a role in providing the structural framework as well as the elasticity and flexibility of the skeleton. The remainder of organic materials are proteoglycans and non-collagen molecules, which are involved in bone mineralization and regulation of growth factors⁸.

Lastly, approximately 2% of the mass of bone is specialized bone cells that maintain bone homeostasis. Genetic factors and molecular pathways tightly control the formation and differentiation of these specialized cells.

1.1.2 Bone Cells

There are four distinct sorts of specialized cells within bone. Osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and bone lining cells are found on the bone surface, while osteocytes are found implanted in the mineralized interior^{4,8}.

Osteoblasts are derived from multipotent mesenchymal stem cells and regulate bone growth and the production of bone extracellular matrix². Mature osteoblasts are formed from bone lining cells and osteocytes. The differentiation and activity of osteoblasts negatively regulate

osteoclast activity. Osteoblasts also regulate mineralization of newly formed bone. From birth to adolescence, osteoblast activity and bone formation predominates, resulting in constant accumulation of skeletal mass⁷.

Osteoclasts are specialized cells that are derived from the monocyte/macrophage hematopoietic lineage. These cells release acidic and lytic enzymes to degrade bone cells and induce bone resorption⁵. Degraded products such as collagen fragments and minerals are processed within the osteoclast and then released into circulation to be utilized in other cellular processes². Osteoclasts are the key participant of bone remodeling during adult life. Most people in the U.S. lose approximately 0.5% of bone mass each year after age 40 due to the predominance of osteoclast activity¹⁰. Imbalances of remodeling can result in serious changes to the skeletal structure and potentially morbidity, affecting the lifespan. Most adult skeletal diseases are due to excessive osteoclastic activity; these diseases include osteoporosis, multiple myeloma, rheumatoid arthritis, and metastatic cancers⁵.

Osteocytes are the most abundant and longest-lived bone cell type, and together they form the interconnecting network of bone cells that communicate through gap junctions⁹. Osteocytes are essentially osteoblasts that are encased in bone. Due to the signaling network of osteocytes, bone tissue is able to sense and transduce mechanical stress which is crucial to maintaining homeostasis⁴. Osteocytes can also detect micro-cracks, weight-bearing trauma, and changes in the hormonal state of bone in order to initiate the bone remodeling process⁸.

Lastly, bone lining cells are flat, elongated bone cells. Bone lining cells are thought to be inactive though, if necessary can distinguish back into osteoblasts. The main function of bone lining cells is to act as a barrier for certain ions⁸.

4

Altogether, these specialized bone cells are vital to the constant process of bone remodeling. Continuous remodeling is necessary in order to allow bones to adapt to changes in weight bearing load, and to repair the damage caused by recurrent microtraumas⁷.

Bone homeostasis is essential for strong, healthy bones; however, the specialized bone cells must remain close to an equilibrium between bone production and bone resorption in order for bones to have the optimal strength and support the body. Bone mass varies based on the equilibrium between bone synthesis by osteoblasts and bone resorption by osteoclasts. Genetic factors that contribute to the regulation of this equilibrium, and more importantly genetic polymorphisms that cause variability in this equilibrium are essential to understand in order to identify individuals at risk for poorer bone health⁶.

1.1.3 Bone Mineral Density and Content

Bone growth is characterized by longitudinal growth and the changes in skeletal size and shape⁸. Markers of bone growth and bone health include bone mineral content (BMC) and bone mineral density (BMD). BMC reflects the absolute amount of mineral in the selected bone¹¹. BMD refers to the relative amount of bone mineral divided by projected area of the selected bone, or BMC divided by the area of the bone. Bone mass is accrued at different rates throughout the skeleton, which is why different sites demonstrate different rates of bone growth. BMD is a highly genetic trait that is commonly used for both the assessment of bone health in children and later in life, the diagnosis of osteoporosis¹². Twin and family studies have demonstrated that the heritability of BMD and other factors of bone health, such as skeletal geometry, bone turnover, and ultrasound properties is high¹³ Further, familial similarity of BMD and bone markers is higher during adolescence and early adulthood rather than later in life¹⁴.

1.1.3.1 Bone Densitometry in Children and Adolescents

Bone tissue is influenced by genetic, metabolic, and behavioral elements. A number of disorders are known to affect bone development and bone mineral accrual in children, resulting in poor growth and/ or delayed bone maturation^{15,16}. Tools to assess bone health is needed to identify pediatric patients at risk for poor bone health or at risk of osteoporosis due to low BMD¹⁷. Dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is the most commonly utilized technique for determining BMD and BMC. DXA is ideal for pediatric measurements because it is widely available, has a rapid scan time, and low radiation exposure^{17,18}. DXA is an effective, noninvasive and quantitative method for assessing the risk of fractures⁹. Reference curves for BMD and BMC at several body sites have been reported for children ages 5 -20 years from the Bone Mineral Density in Childhood Study (BMDCS), a national study of childhood standardized DXA measurements¹⁷.

1.1.4 Peak Bone Mass

Bone growth during childhood and adolescence is a strong predictor of the lifetime risk of bone disease⁸. Peak bone mass, which is reached by early adulthood, is the point of bone homeostasis in which bone formation predominates shifts to the period in which bone resorption predominates. On average, peak bone mass is achieved around the age of 25 years and is the key determinant of the lifetime risk of osteoporosis⁴. Along with its impact on growth, puberty plays a fundamental role in the acquisition of bone mass⁸. Skeletal mass approximately doubles during the period between onset of puberty and young adulthood ⁸. Puberty is a critical time in which the amount of bone mass accumulated is equal to the amount of bone typically lost throughout life. The current accepted belief is that the higher the peak bone mass achieved during adolescence, the less impact bone resorption at older ages has before and individuals begins experiencing compromised skeletal

function and risk of osteoporosis and fractures. Because of this, optimizing peak bone mass is important to lower the risk of osteoporosis and fractures. Interventions that aim to optimize peak bone mass are the most beneficial as lifetime risk of fracture incidence is reduced by an estimated 40% for each gain of 5% (0.5 Standard Deviation) in peak bone mass¹⁹. Up to 80% of the variation in peak bone mass has been accredited to genetic factors¹⁶. Therefore, programs that could identify individuals with genetic risk factors to low peak bone mass as well as implement effective intervention strategies to maximize peak bone mass could prove to be a successful osteoporosis prevention initiative.

1.1.5 Genetic Regulators of Bone Biology

Studies over the past forty years have repeatedly established a strong genetic component to bone mass and development²⁰. Genetic factors have been recognized as having an essential role in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis due to the variance in peak bone mass as well as other key indices of bone health including osteoporotic fracture risk, bone geometry, bone turnover, muscle strength, and body mass index¹³. Studies have estimated a heritability of BMD as high as 92%^{21,22} as well as a 50-80% heritability of other markers of bone health, including bone turnover and bone geometry^{8,21}. Several approaches have been implemented to distinguish candidate genes; these approaches include association studies, linkage analysis, model organisms, and twin studies^{13,21,23}.

1.1.5.1 Candidate Genes Implicated in Previous Literature

Many genes have been suggested as likely candidate genes for the regulation of bone health through several techniques. Studies have demonstrated genes that regulate bone homeostasis have site specific and gender specific effects²¹. The most widely studied genes are listed in the table below^{24,25}.

Candidate Gene	Proposed Function		
RANK/RANKL	RANK/RANKL signals the formation of osteoclast precursors, activation, and survival in normal bone remodeling ^{5,26,27} . Mice deficient in RANKL and RANK develop osteopetrosis because of the inability to form osteoclasts ^{28,29} .		
OPG	This gene acts as a negative regulator of bone resorption. Overexpression blocks osteoclast formation inducing osteopetrosis. Gene knockout results in enhanced bone remodeling and bone loss, resulting in osteoporosis ⁵ .		
COLIA1/2	Encode matrix proteins. The expression of these genes and the balance of collagen fibrils are essential for proper formation of bone. Poor collagen quality results in reduced bone strength. Mutations in the <i>COLIA1</i> gene results in osteogenesis imperfect, a genetic condition with a phenotype of extremely severe osteoporosis ^{8,20,21} .		
LRP5	A receptor for canonical Wnt signaling. Wnt signaling involved in processes including apoptosis, limb developme and osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation. Knockout m have shown low bone mass is a result of decreased osteob proliferation ^{13,30} .		
TGF-β1	Abundant in bone matrix, the released TGF-B1 protein is an essential controller of osteoblast proliferation and differentiation. Gene knockout results in osteopenic phenotype ³¹ .		
Osterix	Transcriptional regulator expressed in chondrocytes and in osteoblasts. Targeted inactivation of this gene led to the complete absence of bone synthesis throughout the skeletal and a loss of most markers of bone differentiation ²⁰ .		
VDR	The first candidate gene to be investigated in the osteoporosis field, the <i>VDR</i> gene encodes the vitamin D receptor, which allows the body to metabolize vitamin D^{21} .		
ESR1	Encoding estrogen receptor, believed to have a role in modulating osteoclast differentiation and function. Several polymorphisms in this gene have been connected with the rate of bone loss after menopause ²⁰ .		

Table 1: Candidate Genes of Bone Development from Previous Literature

Table 1 Continued

ΤΝΓ-α	TNF-alpha is believed to reduce osteoblast mediated mineralization while simultaneously inducing osteoclast differentiation ^{32,5} .	
RUNX2	Key transcription factor that induces proliferations and differentiation into preosteoblasts and mature osteoblasts and therefore bone formation ² .	
SOST	The <i>SOST</i> gene encodes the protein sclerostin in osteocytes. The main role of this protein is to inhibit bone formation by interfering with Wnt signaling. Sclerostin may also promote apoptosis in bone cells, further inhibiting bone growth. ²¹ .	
SOX9	A critical transcription factor for BMP1 induced chondrocyte differentiation and osteoblast activity ³³ .	
SMAD1	This gene is believed to play a key role in bone development and postnatal bone formation. SMAD proteins control the expression of RUNX2 ³⁴ .	

1.1.5.2 Previous Published GWAS of Bone Health

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) are a technique for researchers to detect genes involved with human disease. This method searches the genome for small variation, or single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that are associated with a particular disease or trait. This research allows hypotheses to be made on the gene that influence a person's risk of developing that disease³⁵. Previous GWAS have been performed on BMD and bone geometry in order to identify SNPs associated with bone phenotypes as well as to identify new genes that may contribute to the many pathways that control bone homeostasis. Published GWAS have already established 63 genomic loci associated with BMD in adult populations³⁶. While individual variants at these loci have modest contributions to the variability in bone health, collectively many variants can significantly account for trait variation between individuals. In performing a GWAS on a common, multifactorial disease, we would expect to find many common genetic variants that on their own have a small impact but together represent a greater cause of variability^{26,27,30,37-42}.

1.1.5.3 Polymorphisms Known to Influence BMD

Previous GWAS of bone markers have identified several polymorphisms that have associated with BMD and bone health. The majority of these studies have studied adult bone health, however there are several publications that focused on a pediatric population. For example, common variants in the *LRP5* gene are related to BMD and osteoporotic fracture, the *sp1* binding site polymorphism in the *COL1A1* gene has been determined to decrease bone mass and is associated with an increased risk of osteoporotic fractures in elderly women⁴³, the *PvuII* polymorphism in the *COL1A2* gene is a risk factor for osteoporosis, and the the *PvuII* polymorphism in the *ESR1* gene is associated with BMD in postmenopausal women.

While the vast majority of studies assessing the genetics of bone health have used adult populations, several studies have recently been published investigating the number of BMD-lowering polymorphisms at known adult GWAS-implicated loci to determine an overall genetic risk score for osteoporosis for pediatric patients. A higher genetic risk score had a negative effect on BMD and BMC at the age of 13 and was associated with a slower rate of bone accrual between the ages of 13 and 17²². Researchers are beginning to look into the difference in the genetic regulation of bones at difference life stages and finding that bone development during youth is strongly impacted³⁶.

In the few GWAS, previous to this study, done on childhood bone health, researchers found that there were common genetic influences on BMD in children and in adults, especially in the *ESR1* and Wnt signaling pathway genes^{22,44}. For example, Estrogen receptor gene polymorphisms were associated with BMD in adolescent boys⁴⁵, *Osterix* and *WNT16*³⁷ gene polymorphisms were associated with childhood total BMD through a primary effect on growth⁴⁴, RANKL polymorphisms were associated with cortical BMD²⁶, and *VDR* gene polymorphisms were

determined to be associated with child spin BMD^{8,46}. A meta-analysis GWAS for BMD as part of the Bone Mineral Density in Childhood Study, researching of longitudinal pediatric BMD measurements, found that several adult BMD associated genes to be associated. This study also found significant associations for SNP-by-age interactions, suggesting multiple variants associated with adult BMD are in fact exerting effects early in life¹⁸. Lastly, a previous study utilizing the lowa Bone Development Study investigated the impacted associations of eight candidate genes (*COL1A1/2, osteocalcin, osteonectin, osteopontin, VDR, ERa,* and *AR*) with BMD and BMC and ages 4.5- 6.5 years. This study detected the strongest association with *COL1A2* and *Osteocalcin.* These results also showed a significant gene by gene interaction, suggesting that the combination of genotypes at several loci may be as significant as a single genotype for BMD and BMC⁴⁷. Many of the previous genetic studies on BMD and bone markers during childhood have reported links with variants in osteoblast – related genes (such as *COL1A1/2, osteocalcin, PTHR1, LRP5, and ESR1*)⁴⁴. This is consistent with the idea that bone formation is predominant in childhood, before peak bone mass is reached, and under tight genetic regulation early in life.

1.1.5.4 Genetic Syndromes Associated with Low BMD

Monogenic syndromes associated with low BMD, while not likely the cause of individual variability in bone phenotypes, do pinpoint several genes influencing bone development in which common polymorphisms may influence normal variation in BMD. Several well-known genetic syndromes that are associated with findings of low BMD and early onset osteoporosis include the conditions in Table $2^{8,48,49}$.

Genetic Disorder	Gene	Inheritance
Glycogen Storage Disease 1	G6PC	AR
Loeys- Dietz Syndrome Type 2	TGFBR2	AD
Osteogenesis Imperfecta	COLIA1 COLIA2 CRTAP P3H1	AD
Hemochromatosis Type 1	HFE	AR
Cystic Fibrosis	CFTR	AR
Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	DMD	X-linked
Down Syndrome	Chr. 21	Sporadic
Fragile X Premutation Carriers	FMR1	X-linked
Beta- Thalassemia	HBB	AR
Prader- Willi Syndrome	Chr. 15q11.2-q13	Sporadic
Turner Syndrome	45, X	Sporadic

Table 2: Genetic Syndromes Associated with Low BMD

1.1.5.5 Agonistic Pleiotropy

The differences in genetic regulation and contributors of bone homeostasis at different periods of life can be connected to hypotheses of genetics and aging. George Williams initially proposed the agonistic pleiotropy hypothesis as an evolutionary explanation of biological aging in 1957. Agonistic pleiotropy means that a single gene may influence several phenotypes (pleiotropy) and that these effects may impact fitness in different ways at different life stages. Williams proposed that a gene caused both increased reproduction and fitness in early life and aging in later life. This

idea is built on the idea that organisms are under competing environmental constraints and that genetic variants can be adaptive for growth early in life and maladaptive later in life^{50,51}. This hypothesis connects with the previous findings and hypotheses of the genetics of bone development in that as environmental factors and exposures change throughout life, genetic variants can have different impacts and power in bone development at different periods of life.

1.1.6 Environmental Factors and Regulators of Bone Health

While bone health is believed to be highly familial and genetic, it is also influenced greatly by environmental and medical factors^{16,27}. Nutrition, physical activity, and hormonal balances represent environmental factors that impact bone development and health and can be targeted for bone health interventions. The expected growths in bone size and mass during childhood and adolescents are only reached when there are favorable environmental factors¹⁹. Demonstrating this, studies have shown a 35-65% increase in common childhood fractures over the past four decades. These trends raise worries that current lifestyles are compromising childhood bone health. Trends of childhood obesity and a higher body mass index coupled with less nutritious diets and less daily physical activity have a negative impact on early bone health and as an effect, osteoporosis risk later in life¹⁹

1.1.6.1 Nutrients

Nutrition and bone health are closely connected. A healthy diet can help avoid and or treat bone disease and related musculoskeletal disorders by promoting bone formation and maintenance. Conversely, deficiencies in essential vitamins and minerals can increase risk for poor bone health. Two crucial nutrients for bone health are calcium and vitamin D⁵².

<u>Calcium</u>

Calcium is vital for normal skeletal growth and development. Calcium is a major component of bone tissue as the skeleton houses 99% of the body's calcium source⁵³. When the body is deficient in calcium, the skeleton acts as a calcium reservoir to tap into. Therefore, when calcium is needed, bone resorption, through osteoclast activity, will prevail to release calcium into the bloodstream. Prolonged and excess osteoclast activity due to low levels of calcium will result in decreased bone mass and low BMD². Adequate calcium intake is crucial for reaching the optimal peak bone mass and lowering the rate of age- related bone loss⁵². A high intake of milk and dairy during childhood is linked with a higher bone mass at maturity¹⁶. In a study of 10 year old identical twins, calcium citrate supplements given for 3 years significantly increased bone mass when compared to the control group¹⁶. Additionally, studies have estimated that BMD in the third decade could be increased by 1% with a calcium intake of 200mg per day up to 16% with an intake of 2100 mg per day¹⁹. Lactose intolerance has also been shown to be connected with lower bone mass and increased bone fragility due to the limited calcium intake⁵⁴.

Besides the dietary intake of calcium, the absorption and metabolism of calcium intake is an essential factor in determining the availability of calcium for bone development. Calcium metabolism and the regulation of calcium homeostasis have been shown to have genetic contributors. The literature reports a heritability of calcium metabolism up to 52%⁵⁵. Additionally, studies have begun to see a connection between epigenetics, the study of alterations in gene expression other than sequence changes, and bone development. Researchers have hypothesized that placental calcium transporters may be significant in epigenetic regulation of bone growth⁵⁶.

Vitamin D

Vitamin D is a critical factor necessary for mineralization of bone tissue¹⁶. Vitamin D, a secosteroid, made in the skin through exposure to sunlight and obtained from diet, is a key regulator of calcium and phosphate levels⁵⁵. Vitamin D is an important factor of the strength and mineralization of bone. An insufficient level will induce amplified bone resorption, lead to bone loss, and reduce muscle mass. Muscle loss can impact neuromuscular function and balance; therefore increasing the risk for falls and fractures, further influencing bone health⁴. However, sunlight exposure can result in greater BMD in vitamin D deficient bones and lead to the prevention of further fractures⁵⁴. As of 2010, five out of nine studies researching the impact of vitamin D supplementation alone, and 16 out of 22 studies investigating vitamin D in conjunction with calcium, demonstrated significant positive effects on BMD. Several studies reported significant benefits seen within five weeks of supplementations in participants with vitamin D deficiency and osteoporosis/ osteopenia⁵⁷.

Vitamin D metabolism has also been to seen to have genetic regulators, with a heritability ranging from 43%- 65%⁵⁵. Researchers have also implicated an epigenetic effect of maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy. While studies investigating the effect of epigenetics and variability in bone development are in the early stages, these results further demonstrate the vitality of vitamin D in bone development⁵⁶.

1.1.6.2 Physical Activity

Weight bearing physical activity causes new bone formation and results in greater bone strength. Strains on bone greater than minimally required for constant remodeling yield a response that stimulates bone production to meet the increasing load requirement. This adaptive response occurs predominantly during times of drastic growth and with habitual physical activity⁵⁸. A previous study of bone markers and exercise in children of the Iowa Bone Development Study demonstrated that there are statistically significant associations between exercise and bone health during early childhood, well before peak bone mass is reached⁵⁸. Daily exercise alone explains 1.5 to 9% of variance in child bone markers and is associated with bone health throughout childhood⁵⁸. Further, physical activity during childhood and adolescence may in fact account for up to 17% of variance in BMD in the late 20's¹⁶.

Interventions that promote physical activity are needed because young children are not participating in enough physical activity to boost bone health during the period in life where they may be the most active. Studies have demonstrated that physical activity is associated with BMC and bone geometry in a dose dependent manner, and that bone health is significantly improved with high physical activity when compared to physically inactive or moderately active counterparts⁵⁹. Studies have also demonstrated site-specific differences in how the skeleton responds to repetitive physical activity and weight bearing exercises in children. This is especially seen in children involved in sports such as gymnastics and baseball⁶⁰. The influence of sports and physical activity on bone development and mineralization is greatest before puberty compared to exercise in adulthood. Additionally increased bone mass acquired with intensive physical activity in childhood continues into adult life. Former runners, gymnasts, and dancers have BMD measurements as high as 8-12% greater than their age-matched controls, even years after they have retired from the sport.¹⁹

1.1.6.3 Hormones

Many hormones affect bone growth and remodeling. These include growth hormones, parathyroid hormones, estrogens, calcitonin and thyroid stimulation hormones, osteoprotegrin, leptin, and

serotonin. Parathyroid hormones and sex steroids represent major influencers of bone development and maturation⁵⁵.

Parathyroid Hormones

Bone resorption can be triggered by parathyroid hormone (PTH) in response to hypocalcemia. PTH stimulates osteoclast production. PTH has an significant function in bone synthesis and preventing osteoblast and osteocyte apoptosis⁶¹. Recurrent low level doses of PTH increases osteoblast activity, bone production, and bone mass and is currently an established anabolic treatment for osteoporosis⁶¹. Heritability of parathyroid hormone regulation is suggested to be 60%.⁵⁵

Sex Steroids

Before puberty is reached, bone growth is largely contingent on growth hormones, however, sex steroids are critical for complete bone maturation and mineral accrual in the teenage years⁸. It is well established that estrogen is the vital regulator of bone metabolism in both men and women, affecting bone growth, remodeling, and homeostasis^{8,62}. With roles in the regulation of osteoblast mediated bone synthesis and osteoclast activity in multiple pathways, including progenitor cell recruitment, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis⁸. One of the best predictors of bone loss in women is estrogen deficiency at the time of menopause. There is a 10-year cumulative loss in BMD of 9-10% associated with menopause⁶². Menopause is the most common cause of osteoclast activity that leads to higher fracture risk and increased mortality of osteoporosis².

Androgens also impact bone growth and may contribute to some gender- related differences in bone development. Androgens stimulate male sexual differentiation before birth and sexual maturity during puberty and may provide protection against osteoporosis. During puberty, males develop greater bone mass than females due to increased perosteal apposition. Estrogens in

females also induce epiphyseal closure earlier in women, resulting in longer bones in males. While the rate of osteoclastic activity is similar in both sexes after puberty, the net loss in bone tissue is less in men due to a greater bone length, larger bone perimeters, and a larger cortical volume in males compared to females. Therefore, elderly men maintain cancellous bone integrity and bone strength significantly in comparison with postmenopausal women⁶³.

1.1.7 Osteoporosis

Known candidate genes of bone biology do not only influence the risk of low BMD. These genes can affect bone growth and development, and can cause diseases that are inherited in a classical Mendelian manner. These disorders include bone dysplasia, osteopetrosis, osteogenesis imperfect, and osteoporotic-psuedoglioma syndrome¹³. While there are a variety of bone and skeletal disorders, osteoporosis is the most common disorder with the largest public health burden. Osteoporosis is a skeletal disorder diagnosed by low bone mass and microarchitectual deterioration of bone tissue, which in turn causes increased bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture. Osteoporosis is diagnosed when BMD lies than 2.5 standard deviations below the average⁴.

1.1.7.1 Osteoporosis and Public Health Burden

Osteoporosis risk increases with age and is a major health threat to millions of elderly worldwide⁴¹. Osteoporosis is a common condition that affects 10.3% of the general population, affecting up to 30% of women and 12% of men at some point in life^{48,13}. In the U.S. alone, almost 54 million women and men are affected by osteoporosis and low bone mass³⁸. Worldwide, osteoporosis causes more than 8.9 million fractures each year, meaning there is an osteoporotic fracture every three seconds⁵⁴.

Osteoporosis is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. Hip fractures, in particular are a common serious concern for individuals with osteoporosis with a high one-year mortality and morbidity rate. Thirty percent of individuals that suffer from a hip fracture die within the first year following the fracture, and many more will experience significant functional loss^{64,65}. Though osteoporosis is not the acute cause of death, an osteoporosis related fracture serves as the precipitating event that leads to loss of mobility and subsequent rapid decline in health across months.

The cost of osteoporosis-related treatment in the U.S. was reported as \$22 billion in 2008⁶⁶. However, costs of osteoporosis far exceed that of just treatment. Quality of life and ability to work are also strongly impacted. Those diagnosed with osteoporosis are more likely to have a disability (52.6%) compared to unaffected individuals. People affected with osteoporosis also report twice as many mentally and physically poor days as unaffected individuals. Adults with osteoporosis are also more likely to perceive their health as being poor (45.4% reporting health as fair or poor) than individuals with healthy bones⁶⁶. In women over the age of 45, osteoporosis accounts for more hospitalized days than any other disease, including heart disease, diabetes, and breast cancer⁵⁴.

With the trend of an aging population, the public health threat of osteoporosis continues to affect more patients with an increasing cost of treatment. It is predicted that if these trends continue, 61 million individuals in the U.S. will be affected with osteoporosis by the year 2020⁵⁴. Even if the rates of osteoporosis among the elderly remain constant, the aging trend of the world population is believed to increase the number of osteoporotic bone fractures and treatment costs by 48%, resulting in more than 3 million fractures and treatment costs of \$25.3 billion by 2025 in the U.S⁶⁷.

1.1.7.2 Risk Factors for Osteoporosis

Many contributors impact osteoporosis lifetime risk. These factors include diet, physical activity, mediation use, and coexisting conditions. The first major risk factor is age. The age related increase in oxidative stress has the most impactful detrimental effect on bone homeostasis. Men and women both experience a progressive decline in BMD with age that begins as soon as peak bone mass is reached⁴. In the elderly, the strongest clinical risk factor is a positive family history for osteoporosis, emphasizing the genetic implications of bone health¹³.

Race has been shown to impact BMD. BMD has been shown to be significantly higher in individuals of African descent and osteoporosis incidence is higher among Caucasian and Asian individuals^{66,68}.

A poor diet plays a significant role in the risk of osteoporosis. The dietary intake of the essential vitamins, such as vitamin D and calcium, explained previously, a higher protein intake is also associated with a lower rate of age-related bone loss. Additionally, high intake of alcohol also results in a significant risk of fractures due to reduced BMD and BMC⁵⁴. Chronic excessive drinking affects bone metabolism and inhibits bone formation while increasing bone resorption⁴.

Smoking can also lead to reduced BMD and increased bone fragility. The mechanism in which smoking results in poor bone health is not yet clear because smoking negatively impacts many body tissues and regulatory pathways⁴.

Physical inactivity and a sedentary lifestyle are major risk factors for developing osteoporotic fractures. Impaired neuromuscular function, including weakened muscle strength and impaired gait and balance, are also risk factors for fractures. Studies have repeatedly demonstrated that BMD in postmenopausal women can be preserved or increased with therapeutic exercises.

However, low body weight and extreme weight loss is related with increased bone loss and a higher risk of fracture⁶⁹.

Several medical conditions and medications can cause secondary osteoporosis. Conditions known to cause secondary osteoporosis include rheumatoid arthritis, hypogonadism, hyperparathyroidism, hyperthyroidism, kidney disease, GI disorders, such as Crohn's and celiac disease, and Type 1 Diabetes⁶⁹. The additional consequence of prolonged use of medications such as corticosteroids, anxiolytics, proton pump inhibiting drugs, neuroleptics, sedatives, and antidepressants have also been shown to significantly increase the risk of osteoporosis-related fractures⁴⁸.

An advantage of pediatric cohorts is that while osteoporosis risk is the interaction of genetic factors and environmental risk factors such as physical activity, alcohol, smoking, and medications, children because have limited exposures (in amount and time period exposed) to the environmental risks compared to adults. Because of this, the genetic assessment and genes found to be associated with pediatric bone health may have more power due fewer environmental and behaviors confounding variables.

1.1.7.3 Current Interventions for Osteoporosis

Treatment of diagnosed osteoporosis is cost-effective no matter the age in which treatment is begun⁵⁴. Recognizing and treating patients at risk for fracture before the first osteoporotic related fracture will substantially lessen the long-term burden of the disease. Reducing the chance of the first fracture from 8% to 2% can reduce the 5-year fracture risk from approximately 34% to 10%⁵⁴. However, poor compliance is the most significant issue with osteoporotic treatment. Studies have shown that only 40% of patients still continue treatment beyond a year and that only 20% of patients are compliant after two years⁵⁴.

As the biology of bone disease is better understood, better treatments and therapies for osteoporosis are available. Treatments depend on the current knowledge of osteoblast and osteoclast pathways in order to either inhibit osteoclast activity or increase osteoblast activity. Several current approved therapies include cytokine inhibition, inhibition of osteoclastogenesis pathways, blocking osteoclast activity, enhancing osteoblast activity, and interfering with osteoblast inhibition. Several treatment strategies of osteoporosis have utilized known candidate genes of bone growth. One example includes, Denosumab, an anti-osteoclast treatment that targets RANKL with a human monoclonal antibody. Osteoblast differentiation is also promoted by a pro-anabolic treatment that targets LRP5 by inhibiting DKK-1 activity. Another example is the inhibition of sclerostin to interfere with osteoblast inhibition due to studies that demonstrated *SOST* gene (which encodes sclerostin) mutations were associated with high bone mass².

BMD screening has become widely recommended. The U.S. Prevention Services Task Force has recommended that all women 65 years or older without fractures or secondary osteoporosis and women less than 65 years with a 10 year fracture risk greater or equal to that of a 65 year old women should have BMD screening through DXA⁶⁶. Additionally patients and providers can assess the 10-year fracture risk with the FRAX risk assessment tool available through the World Health Organization⁶⁶. Because osteoporosis and related costs of mortality and morbidity pose such a large public health burden, implementation of effective treatments and prevention protocols are crucial in the hope of promoting healthier bones on a population scale.

1.2 PUBLIC HEALTH SIGNIFICANCE OF GWAS OF CHILDHOOD BONE PHENOTYPES

Skeletal growth and bone health during childhood and adolescence is a strong predictor of the lifetime risk of osteoporosis, which poses a serious public health threat worldwide. Due to the significant influence of behavioral factors early in life, tight genetic regulation of bone homeostasis during early bone development, and the fact that the majority of bone formation is reached during adolescence, osteoporosis should be considered a delayed onset disease with pediatric origins. Despite advances in treating bone fragility, there is currently no cure for osteoporosis. More research is needed to fully understand the causes of individual variation in bone health and early prevention strategies to lower osteoporosis risk⁸.

With the ultimate goal of preventing osteoporosis, it is important we increase our knowledge of the pathologic mechanism of the disease. While the knowledge of genetic factors influencing bone health and osteoporosis have increased dramatically, there are still many unanswered questions. First, the bulk of genetic association studies have been performed in with adult populations and adult bone measurements, though the genetic regulation of bone health is possibly stronger and more impactful during early development. Secondly, we do not currently understand gene-gene interactions in bone-related pathways or the effect of interactions between genetic variations and environmental factors.

This study is one of the first GWAS investigating bone health in children. This is also a wide-ranging GWAS in which we investigated associations with ten different bone health phenotypes across multiple skeletal sites. The public health significance of this study is that if we know the genetic contributors and polymorphisms associated with poor bone health and a genetic predisposition to osteoporosis later in life, then we can detect these genetic variants in order to
identify children with greater genetic risk. This will allow for more targeted interventions in those most at risk to hopefully lower the incidence of osteoporosis in the future.

New approaches towards treatment and, more importantly, osteoporosis prevention will require efforts in which the progress and insights from biological research are paired with clinical utility²⁰. Because the foundation of bone health is established so early in life, osteoporosis prevention interventions should begin by heightening bone health throughout childhood¹⁹. This research can reach clinical and public health practices if one day genetic screening programs are available to identify children with a genetic predisposition to osteoporosis later in life. Effective bone health interventions, including promoting healthy nutrition and exercise, can then be recommended and initiated early in "high-risk" children, optimizing peak bone mass reached.

1.3 RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND SPECIFIC AIMS

1.3.1 Research Questions

Question 1:

Are there loci that are significantly associated with childhood bone health phenotypes?

Question 2:

Do significant loci contain genes with function related to bone development and homeostasis?

1.3.2 Specific Aims

Aim 1:

Perform a genome-wide association analysis for ten bone health phenotype measurements obtained on 296 Caucasian children (average age 5y) from the Iowa Bone Development Study in order to identify SNPs associated with bone health early in life.

Aim 2:

Perform annotation of the neighboring genes of significant and suggestive SNPs (p-values less than 10⁻⁶) associated with each bone phenotype. Develop a working mechanism or pathway, based on previous literature, of the genetic link to bone health.

2.0 METHODS

2.1 STUDY POPULATION

The Iowa Bone Development Study was initiated in 1998 and is a longitudinal study of childhood, adolescent, and young adulthood bone health. Children and parents for this study are volunteer participants from 890 families previously recruited to participate in the Iowa Fluoride Study⁷⁰. Infant participants and their parents were originally recruited from eight Iowa hospitals between 1992 and 1995 immediately postpartum and followed-up throughout infancy, childhood, and adolescence⁵⁸. The ongoing study is assessing bone development over time through assessments including bone mineral composition and geometry, dietary intake, physical activity, anthropometric measurements, demographics, and parental factors⁷¹. Assessments of bone development were made at target ages 5, 9, 11, 13, 15, and 17 years. The study is currently completing bone assessments of participating young adults who are now ages 19-23 years⁷². This study will focus on assessments when the participants were ages four to seven years old (mean age = 5.3 years). This cohort includes 296 healthy, Caucasian children that completed bone measurements. Written informed consent was provided by the parents and assent was provided by child participants. The study was approved by the University of Iowa Institutional Review Board (Human Subjects)⁷¹. The analysis of this data was approved by the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board.

2.2 BONE PHENOTYPES

Bone mineral density (BMD) and bone mineral content (BMC) measurements were derived from whole body and left hip scans using a Hologic 2000 dual-energy x-ray absorptiometer (DXA) with a fan-beam geometry and a multiple detector array⁵⁸. To reduce operator-related variability, all measurements were performed on the same device and quality control scans were conducted daily¹¹. Coefficients of variation were found to be 1-2% in BMD of the hip, spine, and total body⁵⁸. Studies have consistently demonstrated DXA to be an accurate and precise tool to assess lean tissue mass when animal subjects, approximately the weight of a child, were studied⁷³. Further, DXA is the preferred method for evaluating child BMD because it is believed to be safe, precise, low in cost, and associated with a low dose of radiation^{15,74–76}.

Bone mineral density (in units of grams/ square centimeters) is the relative value of amount of bone mineral divided by the 2-dimensional projected area of the selected bone. Bone mineral content (in units of grams) reflects the absolute amount of mineral in the selected bone⁵⁸. The following mineral measurements were obtained: hip, spine, and head bone mineral density (g/cm²) and hip, spine, head, and whole body (excluding head) bone mineral content (g).

Structural bone geometry measurements were determined from hip DXA images using the Hip Structure Analysis program (HAS version 2.1). The program locates the cross-section traversing the femoral neck at its narrowest point and the following measurements are obtained: femoral neck cross-sectional area (CSA, cm²), femoral neck width (cm), and femoral neck section modulus (cm³)¹¹. While lower BMD is a strong determinant of bone strength, bone geometry is also a major determinant of osteoporosis risk. Little work has been done to determine genetic regulators of bone geometry; these measurements may in fact be better predictors of fracture risk and monitoring responses to osteoporosis therapy. This study is one of the first GWAS studying

bone geometry measurements in children. More extensive details regarding the measurements this program uses to calculate structural geometry have previously been extensively described¹¹.

2.3 COVARIATES

Data on several potential covariates were collected, and included in the tests of genetic association: sex, height (cm), weight (kg), age (years) at the time of the bone measurements. The rationale for making covariate adjustments was that these factors may be sources of considerable phenotypic variance that may obscure the comparative smaller portions of variance attributable to specific genetic variants. Therefore, making covariate adjustments may aid in identifying the associated genetic variants. Furthermore, some of the covariates (e.g., height and weight) are themselves under genetic control, but identifying the genes influencing these is not desirable for the goals of this particular study. By adjusting for these covariates, our genome-wide scans will be insulated from the genetic factors influencing body size, rather than bone, per se. In other words, covariate adjustment helps ensure that associated genetic variants will be reflective of specific mechanisms relevant to bone phenotypes, rather than reflective of mechanisms relevant to general growth and body size.

2.4 GENOTYPING AND IMPUTATION

Details regarding allele calling, data cleaning, and quality assurance metrics have been previously described in detail⁷⁷ and are also publicly available from dbGAP^{78,79}.

In brief, the Illumina Human610-Quadv1_B BeadChip⁸⁰ and Illumina Infinium II assay protocol⁸¹ were used for this study. All genotyping was performed on behalf of the NIH GENEVA consortium by the Johns Hopkins University Center for Inherited Disease Research (CIDR). Among 620,901 SNPs released by the CIDR, 2,671 SNPs were filtered out due to the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium test filter P-value less than 0.001; 32,417 SNPs were excluded from analysis due to a missing call rate greater than 10%; 69,818 SNPs were filtered out due to a minor allele frequency less than 2%. After applying these filters, 548,051 SNPs were used in the statistical analysis. 296 children were successfully genotyped⁸².

Imputation was performed in order to produce information on unobserved SNPs as well as fill in sporadic missing genotype calls among observed SNPs. This was accomplished using publically available haplotype data from the 1000 Genomes Project Phase 3 reference panel⁸³. Pre-phasing was performed using SHAPEIT2⁸⁴ and imputation was performed using IMPUTE2^{85,86}. In total, 7.4 million⁸⁷

(https://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/impute/1000GP_Phase3.html) SNPs passing the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium and minor allele frequency filter were imputed.

2.5 PRINCIPAL COMPONENTS OF ANCESTRY

A limitation of GWAS is that population stratification can be a confounding variable. If not accounted for, population stratification can yield false positive associations^{88,89}. Principal component analysis is a statistical technique that can be used to identify structure in the distribution of genetic variation across ethnic backgrounds and to adjust for ancestry⁹⁰. Including principal

components of ancestry in tests of genetic associations avoids false positive findings due to epidemiological confounding by ancestry-informative genetic variants.

The principal components were generated using PLINK (version 1.9)^{91,92}. To develop a set of SNPs on which to perform PCA, SNPs with a minor allele frequency less than 0.05 and SNPs missing for more than 5% of the participants were removed, yielding 518,187 SNPs. This set of SNPs was then pruned to remove blocks of highly correlated, highly variable SNPs using pairwise correlation within a sliding window of 50 SNPs (as implemented in PLINK^{91,92}). After linkage disequilibrium-based pruning, 95,384 SNPs were retained and included in the principal component analysis. Our GWAS analysis included adjustment for one principal component of ancestry which was sufficient to capture population structure because the study population consisted of all Caucasian children from Iowa (i.e., a fairly genetically homogenous population).

2.6 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS AND RESULTS ANNOTATION

Association between each bone health phenotype and each SNP was tested using the genetic software PLINK^{91,92}. SNP filters for association scans included:

Filter	Effect on Association	Threshold
Missingness Per	Individuals removed	call rate > 0.1
Individual	for low genotyping	
Allele Frequency	SNPs failed frequency	minor allele frequency
	test	< 0.02
Missingness Per	SNPs failed	call rate > 0.1
Marker	missingness test	
Hardy- Weinberg	Markers excluded	P ≤0.0001
Equilibrium	based on Hardy-	
	Weinberg Equilibrium	
	(HWE) test	

Table 3: Filters Included for Association

Linear regression was used to test each SNP individually under the additive genetic model while simultaneously adjusting for covariates and principal components of ancestry. Results were visualized by creating Manhattan plots, quantile-quantile (Q-Q) plots, and calculating genomic inflation factors (λ) using the RStudio statistical environment⁹³. Following, the adopted standard in the field, genome-wide significance was reached if a SNP P-value surpassed the P = 5 x 10⁻⁸ threshold, this is an extremely conservative threshold based on a Bonferroni correction for one million SNPs⁹⁴. This threshold is represented by a solid line on each phenotype Manhattan plot. Because we view GWAS as a hypothesis-generating approach, we additionally scrutinized "suggestive" associations that passed the threshold of P < 10⁻⁶.

LocusZoom⁹⁵ was used to plot association signals for loci of interest meeting significant and suggestive P-value thresholds. All genes within the 400kb flanking region of significant SNPs were annotated. Based on gene function (including previous research supporting a role in bone development and bone homeostasis, previously reported genetic associations with BMD or osteoporosis, previous model organism studies, and associated transcription factor binding sites, and suggested interactions) and proximity to the significant SNP, we selected promising genes to report as possible genetic contributors and susceptibility genes to childhood bone health.

To present an illustration of the detailed literature review performed on implicated genes, pathways were constructed. These pathways show the interactions of the promising genes detected in this study and well-known candidate genes in bone biology. These pathways also demonstrate the possible mechanism in which a variation in the implicated genes could lead to variation in bone health. Pathways based on previous studies were created using the ePath3D Online software⁹⁶.

3.0 **RESULTS**

Sample characteristics are summarized in Table 4. Our study population included 296 Caucasian children with a mean age of 5.3 years. Males accounted for 46.96% of the population and females accounted for 53.04%. The mean and range for each bone health phenotype are included in the table below.

Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Study Population

Sample Characteristics					
Sample Size	296				
Percent Male	46.96 %				
Percent Female	53.04 %				
Mean Age (Range) (years)	5.282 (4.350 - 7.900)				
Mean Height (Range) (cm)	111.8 (98.5 – 135.2)				
Mean Weight (Range) (kg)	20.48 (13.30 - 44.80)				
Mean Hip BMD (Range) (g/cm ²)	0.5565 (0.4203 – 0.7192)				
Mean Hip BMC (Range) (g)	6.015 (3.104 – 13.136)				
Mean Spine BMD (Range) (g/cm ²)	0.5324 (0.3646 - 0.6853)				
Mean Spine BMC (Range) (g)	14.418 (7.988 – 23.823)				
Mean Head BMD (Range) (g/cm ²)	1.375 (1.006 – 1.859)				
Mean Head BMC (Range) (g)	244.0 (162.3 - 342.8)				
Mean Whole Body (excluding head) BMC (Range) (g)	254.25 (79.42 - 556.75)				
Mean Femoral Neck Cross- Sectional Area (Range) (cm ²)	0.9084 (0.5700 – 1.5610)				
Mean Femoral Neck Width (Range) (cm)	2.116 (1.635 – 2.728)				
Mean Femoral Neck Section Modulus (Range) (cm ³)	0.2833 (0.1530 - 0.5830)				

The results of the statistical analysis and gene annotation are organized below by the phenotype of the genome-wide association scan. While the results are reported separately by phenotype, we hypothesize that the genetic associations are not necessarily specific to one skeletal site. Our goal was to determine plausible genes that play a role in the genetic regulation of bone homeostasis of children before peak BMD attainment is reached. While genetic contributions to

bone health can differ by skeletal site, our goal for this study was primarily understanding, in general, the possible roles and interactions the following genes play in the intricate processes of bone development and remodeling during childhood years.

GWAS of ten phenotypes were performed. Phenotypes are grouped in this chapter into the categories BMD, BMC, and bone geometry. For each bone phenotype we present results in the following order: First, the loci reaching genome-wide significance are outlined with a focus on the most plausible genes based on known function relevant to bone regulation. A complete list of all the genes surrounding each significant SNP can be found in Appendix A. Following this, the loci reaching suggestive significance are enumerated. Again, genes that were found to have a connection with bone biology are emphasized. A complete list of all of the genes in the vicinity of suggestive loci along with the LocusZoom plots of all suggestive loci in Appendix B.

Again, the nominated genes of this study are simply the candidate genes with the clearest biologically plausible story. We cannot determine from the statistical evidence if genetic variation influencing these genes is truly involved in normal variation of bone development.

Q-Q plots were created for each phenotype to determine the genomic inflation factor (λ). An inflation factor of 1.0 indicates that there is no evidence of systemic p-value inflation due to inadequate adjustment for population structure or model misspecification. The lambda values for the bone phenotypes range from 0.999135 to 1.012036, suggesting that there was no significant systemic bias. The Q-Q plots for each phenotype can be found in Appendix C.

Phenotype	Genomic Inflation Factor	Standard Error
	(λ)	
Hip BMD	1.000347	2.182E-6
Hip BMC	0.999135	2.385E-6
Spine BMD	1.007295	1.726E-6
Spine BMC	1.002187	2.126E-6
Head BMD	1.003153	1.914E-6
Head BMC	1.010449	2.473E-6
Whole Body BMC (excluding head)	1.000723	2.331E-6
Femoral Neck Cross- Sectional Area	1.009225	1.949E-6
Femoral Neck Width	1.009364	3.730E-6
Femoral Neck Section Modulus	1.012036	2.958E-6

Table 5: Genomic Inflation Factor Values for Bone Phenotypes

3.1 BONE MINERAL DENSITY GWAS

The significant and suggestive signals detected through the GWAS of hip, spine, and head BMD

are presented in Table 6.

Phenotype	Number of	Number of	Implicated Genes
	Significant Loci	Suggestive Loci	
Hip BMD	1	3	COL13A1
Spine BMD	0	2	
Head BMD	0	1	

3.1.1 Hip Bone Mineral Density GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of hip BMD is shown in Figure 1.



Chromosome





Figure 2: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Hip BMD

Figure 2 shows the genome-wide significant (P-value = 1.514E-08) association with hip BMD observed for rs72801121 on chromosome 10. Of the genes in this region, the *COL13A1*

gene, immediately downstream of the associated SNP, has the strongest relation to bone biology. *COL13A1* encodes the alpha chain of a nonfibrillar collagen. While the specific function of this protein is not yet known, its expression in all connective tissue producing cells suggests a general role in connective tissues. Unlike the majority of the collagens, which are released into the extracellular matrix, collagen XIII (which is a trimer composed of one or more alpha chain isomers), contains a transmembrane domain, and the protein complex is localized to the plasma membrane⁹⁷. Previous studies have suggested that collagen XIII is involved in the cell-matrix and cell-cell adhesion. Collagen XIII may therefore be involved in endochondral ossification. In mice studies, overexpression of collagen XIII caused a massive bone- overgrowth, however there were no defects in early skeletal development, suggesting that collagen XIII is an important regulator in the early osteoblast differentiation and bone remodeling⁹⁸. COL13A1 is also suggested to have a role in the coupling of bone mass and mechanical stress⁹⁹.

Three suggestive signals were observed for the hip BMD phenotype. The table below enumerates the genes surrounding the suggestive loci that were found to have plausible functions related to bone biology and a possible connection to childhood bone health. A suggestive signal on chromosome 12 is especially of interest because the neighboring region includes a homeobox C gene cluster, a highly conserved family believed to have a role in cartilage differentiation and regulation. Additionally several genes in this region have been implicated in a previous GWAS meta-analysis for BMD and risk of fracture in adults⁴².

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to
SNP			P-value	Bone Biology
rs57205518	CDHR1	10q23.1	3.161e-07	This gene is a member of the cadherin family of calcium-dependent cell adhesion molecules and may be related to calcium homeostasis ¹⁰⁰ .
rs2366139	ATF7	12q13.13	1.578e-07	The loci was identified in a GWAS for adult height ¹⁰¹ . The gene also is believed to have a role in vitamin D hypersensitivity of osteoclast precursors in Paget's disease ¹⁰² .
rs2366139	HOXC10	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Another cluster of the highly conserved homeobox genes were identified. Hoxc10 knockout mice have bone changes in thoracic, lumbar, sacral vertebrae, the pelvis, along with changes in the development and ligaments of the hindlimbs. Implicated for a role in the regulation of chrondrogenesies and bone formation in the hindlimb, and a specific role in shaping femoral architecture ¹⁰³ .
rs2366139	HOXC8	12q13.13	1.578e-07	This gene product may be involved in the regulation of cartilage differentiation ¹⁰⁴ . It could also influence chondrodysplasias or other cartilage disorders ¹⁰⁵ . The interaction between this gene and SMAD1 have demonstrated the induction of osteoblast differentiation and bone formation ¹⁰⁶ .
rs2366139	HOXC5	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Identified in a previous GWAS meta- analysis for bone mineral density and risk of fracture ⁴² .
rs2366139	NFE2	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Mice deficient in this transcription factor have an increased bone mass phenotype and greater total bone area, cortical bone area and cortical thickness as well as increased BMD ^{107,108} .
rs2366139	HNRNPAI	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Mutations in this gene are associated with body myopathy with early-onset Paget disease without frontotemporal dementia type 3. This is an autosomal dominant disease described with

Table 7 Continued

				disabling muscle weakness and
			1.550.05	osteolytic bone lesions ¹⁰⁹ .
rs2366139	ATP5G2	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Identified in previous GWAS for adult height loci ¹¹⁰ .
rs2366139	CALCOCO1	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Mouse knockout studies show 85-95% notable differences in BMD and BMC ¹¹¹ .
rs2366139	HOTAIR	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Targeted deletion of HOTAIR RNA in mice studies leads to changes in the spine and malformation of bones. This gene may be involved in maintaining the chromatin state of Homeobox genes. ¹¹²
rs2366139	HOXC11	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Gene expression is detected in the posterior neural tube, prevertebrae dorsal root ganglia, and hindlimbs. Expression is seen in the mesenchyme posterior to the region forming the femur. Previous studies demonstrate severe malformations of the appendicular skeleton in mice overexpressing hoxc11 ¹¹³ .
rs2366139	HOXC4	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Identified in a previous GWAS meta- analysis for BMD and risk of fracture ⁴² .
rs2366139	HOXC6	12q13.13	1.578e-07	Identified in a previous GWAS meta- analysis for BMD and risk of fracture. Several targets and pathways regulated by HOXC6 impact bone development and may facilitate metastasis of prostate cancers to the bone microenvironment ¹¹⁴ . BMP7 is a direct repression target of HOXC6 that induces bone formation. While microdeletions involving the HOXC gene cluster are rare, phenotypic features of this deletion include skeletal anomalies, dysmorphism, and intellectual disability ¹¹⁵ .
rs9960845	CCBE1	18q21.32	8.350e-07	The function of this gene includes calcium ion binding and collagen binding ¹¹⁶ .
rs9960845	PMAIP1	18q21.32	8.350e-07	PMAIP1 deficient mice exhibited severe osteoporotic phenotype due to an increased level of osteoclasts due to a prolonged survival of osteoclasts ¹¹⁷ .

3.1.2 Spine Bone Mineral Density GWAS



The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of spine BMD is shown in Figure 3.



No genome-wide significant signals were detected for this phenotype, however, two

suggestive significance signals were observed for the spine BMD phenotype.

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to Bone
SNP			P-value	Biology
7-64494136	ZNF92	7q11.21	9.675e-07	The <i>ZNF92</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT5B</i> gene ¹¹⁸ . The <i>STAT5B</i> gene may regulate the pattern of long bone growth in males that is found in many species ¹¹⁹ .
11-121887592	UBASH3B	11q24.1	3.204e-07	The <i>UBASH3B</i> gene stimulates negative regulation of bone resorption by osteoclasts ¹²⁰ .
11-121887592	HSPA8	11q24.1	3.204e-07	The <i>HSPA8</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT1</i> and <i>STAT3</i> genes ¹²¹ .

 Table 8: Suggestive Genes Associated with Spine BMD

3.1.3 Head Bone Mineral Density GWAS



The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of head BMD is shown in Figure 4.

Figure 4: Manhattan Plot for Head BMD

No genome- wide significant signals were detected for this phenotype, however, one suggestive signal was observed for the head BMD phenotype.

Table 9: Suggestive	Genes Associated	with Head	BMD
---------------------	------------------	-----------	-----

Suggestive SNP	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive P-value	Gene Function Relevance to Bone Biology
rs76178935	ANKRD28	3p25.1	1.952e-07	The ANKRD28 gene is overexpressed in the bone tissue ¹²² .

3.2 BONE MINERAL CONTENT GWAS

The significant and suggestive signals detected through the GWAS of hip, spine, head, and whole body (excluding head) BMC are presented in Table 10.

Phenotype	Number of Significant Loci	Number of Suggestive Loci	Implicated Genes
Hip BMC	1	1	COL11A1
Spine BMC	0	2	
Head BMC	0	3	
Whole Body	0	1	
(excluding head)			
BMC			

Table 10: GWAS Findings for BMC Phenotypes

3.2.1 Hip Bone Mineral Content GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of hip BMC is shown in Figure 5.







Figure 6: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Hip BMC

Figure 6 shows the significant (P-value = 2.756e-08) loci with hip BMC observed for rs12564863 on chromosome 1. The significant association was observed downstream of another collagen, *COL11A* which has plausible biological roles related to bone development. This gene encodes one of the two alpha chains of type XI collagen, a minor fibrillar collagen. Collagen is an integral aspect of the extracellular matrix structure, providing strength to the connective tissues that support the body. Type XI collagen is typically found in cartilage, of which the majority is then converted to bone⁹⁷. Mutations in this gene cause Type II Stickler syndrome and Marshall syndrome. Stickler syndrome is associated with hearing and vision loss as well as abnormalities of the bones and joints¹²³. A previous GWAS found that polymorphism in this gene is also associated with lumbar disc herniation¹²⁴. This loci was also identified in a GWAS meta-analysis associated with bone mineral density and risk of fracture⁴². A number of previous studies implicate the COL11A1 gene as an essential gene for normal skeletal development. COL11A1 is believed to play an essential role in endochondral ossification, and negatively regulating osteoblast

maturation^{123,125}. Additionally, COL11A1- deficient mice were found to have changes in bone microstructure¹²⁵.

One suggestive signal was observed for the hip BMC phenotype. The most significant SNP was rs71337766 on chromosome 2 (P-value = 2.357×10^{-7}). No genes in this region have functions related to bone biology or a connection to childhood bone health.

3.2.2 Spine Bone Mineral Content GWAS



The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of spine BMC is shown in Figure 7.

Figure 7: Manhattan Plot for Spine BMC

For the spine BMC phenotype, no genome-wide significant signals were detected. However, two suggestive signals were observed.

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to Bone Biology
SNP			P-value	
rs8132933	DSCR4	21q22.13	2.850e-07	The <i>DSCR4</i> gene is included in the Down syndrome critical region and has been linked to the pathogenesis of Down syndrome. A small number of studies have indicated that bone density in adults with Down syndrome is lower than in the general population and thus increasing the risk for osteoporosis, especially in the spine. Childhood BMD in individuals with Down syndrome was compared to a control group and found to be significantly lower. There was also found to be an approximately two year delay in the BMD reference curve ¹²⁶ . Additionally this gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>ATF-2</i> , <i>PPAR- Gamma-1</i> genes ¹²⁷ . <i>ATF-2</i> may be involved in trabecular bone formation and <i>PPAR- Gamma-1</i> promotes osteoclastic activity ^{128,129} .

Table 11: Suggestive Genes Associated with Spine BMC

3.2.3 Head Bone Mineral Content GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of head BMC is shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Manhattan Plot for Head BMC

For the head BMC phenotype, no significant signals were detected. Three total suggestive significance signals were observed.

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to Bone
SNP			P-value	Biology
rs11858767	SEMA6D	15q21.1	3.274e-07	The SEMA6D gene is stimulated during osteoclast differentiation through the receptor complex Pleixn-A1/TREM-2/DAP12 in osteoclast cell precursors ^{130,131} .
rs1495931	FBXW8	12q24.22	7.635e-07	The gene is expressed in embryonic bones. Null mutations resulted in small stature. It is suggested that <i>FBXW8</i> loss of function reduces the contribution of bone and muscle to the overall growth in mice studies ¹³² . Another study of 19,000 people of European ancestry found that this gene was associated with an increase in hippocampal volume, this study links this association with the head BMC phenotype ¹³³ .
rs1495931	NOS1	12q24.22	7.635e-07	A polymorphism in this gene was associated with BMD in Korean postmenopausal women in a previous study ¹³⁴ . This variant was found to have a 3.7 fold higher prevalence of osteoporosis at the femoral neck.

Table 12: Suggestive Genes Associated with Head BMC

3.2.4 Whole Body (Excluding Head) Bone Mineral Content GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of whole body (excluding head) BMC is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Manhattan Plot for Whole Body (Excluding Head) BMC

For the whole body (excluding head) BMC phenotype, no significant signals were detected. One suggestive significance signal was observed.

Suggestive SNP	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive P-value	Gene Function Relevance to Bone Biology
2-87831421	RGPD2	2p11.2	1.046e-06	The <i>RGPD2</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for <i>GATA-1</i> and <i>ER-alpha</i> ¹³⁵ .The <i>GATA-1</i> gene is believed to play a significant role in bone regulation as knockout studies have reported that mice deficient in GATA-1 may have the potential to rescue osteoporotic bone phenotype ¹³⁶ . Estrogen receptors have been well studied in their impact on bone. The ER-alpha plays a vital role in mediating estrogen-dependent bone maintenance. It is believed that estrogen prevents bone loss via the ER-alpha in osteoclasts ¹³⁷ . Additionally, ER- alpha has been observed in osteoblasts and osteocytes, predominantly in cortical bone ^{138,139} .
2-87831421	CD8A	2p11.2	1.046e-06	The <i>CD8A</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for <i>STAT1</i> ¹⁴⁰ .
2-87831421	PLGLB2	2p11.2	1.046e-06	The <i>PLGLB2</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for <i>FOXO1</i> ¹⁴¹ . The <i>FOXO1</i> gene is a positive regulator of bone formation in osteoblasts. This transcription factor has been found to be central to an intricate process that translates the signal of oxidative stress and serotonin to regulate bone remodeling ¹⁴² . In mice, <i>FOXO1</i> knockout has a severe effect on skeletogenesis and craniofacial development ^{143,144} .

Table 13: Suggestive Genes Associated with Whole Body (Excluding Head) BMC

3.3 BONE GEOMETRY GWAS

The significant and suggestive signals detected through the GWAS of femoral neck cross-sectional area, section modulus, and width are presented in Table 14.

Phenotype	Number of	Number of	Implicated Genes
	Significant Loci	Suggestive Loci	
Femoral Neck	1	2	TRAT1
Cross- Section			
Area			
Femoral Neck	2	8	HOXD Cluster
Section Modulus			NAV3
Femoral Neck	0	3	
Width			

Table 14: GWAS Findings for Bone Geometry Phenotypes

3.3.1 Femoral Neck Cross-Sectional Area GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of femoral neck cross-sectional area is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Neck CSA



Figure 11: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated Femoral Neck CSA

Annotation of the genes surrounding significant (P-value = 3.512×10^{-8}) signal rs73204757 on chromosome 3 suggests that the *TRAT1* gene (about 350kb upstream of the SNP) has the strongest relation to bone biology. However, the *TRAT1* gene promoter is one of the transcription factor-binding sites for STAT3 transcription factor¹⁴⁵. STAT3 is expressed in bone and joint cells, including osteoclasts, osteocytes, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes. The STAT3 transcription factor is activated by a variety of growth factors and cytokines that regulate the differentiation of osteoblast and osteoclasts as well as the proliferation of chondrocytes. Additionally, STAT3 was found to be responsive to mechanical stimulators and may play a role in the mechanical signal transduction of bone¹⁴⁶. Hyper IgE syndrome is caused by loss of function mutations in the *STAT3* gene. Patients with this genetic condition frequently experience osteopenia and pathologic fractures. Further, mice deficient in STAT3 have increased osteoclast activity yieled a decrease in bone mass¹⁴⁷. This previous research could suggest that the *TRAT1* gene might be involved in the tightly regulated system of transcription factors that are necessary bone development and homeostasis. While this is a weaker biological story that other implicated genes, it is possible that genetic variation in the *TRAT1* promoter could alter expression and activity of the STAT3 transcription factor.

Two suggestive significance signals were observed for the femoral neck cross-sectional area phenotype. Of particular interest is that loci including the *NAV3* gene reached suggestive loci. This loci reached GWAS significance for the femoral neck section modulus phenotype and was found to have relevance to bone homeostasis because the *NAV3* promoter includes a transcription factors binding site for STAT1 transcription factor, a well-studied regulator of osteoblast proliferation¹⁴⁸.

Suggestive SNP	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive P-value	Gene Function Relevance to Bone Biology
rs77689273	NAV3	12q21.2	5.795e-07	The <i>NAV3</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT1</i> transcription factor ¹⁴⁹ .
21-9935897	TPTE	21p11.2	5.427e-07	The TPTE gene is involved in the signal transduction pathways of the endocrine function of the testes. This gene is overexpressed in bone and testes ¹⁵⁰ .

Table 15: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck CSA

3.3.2 Femoral Neck Section Modulus GWAS

The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of femoral neck section modulus is shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Section Modulus



Figure 13: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Femoral Neck Section Modulus

Two signals reaching genome-wide significance were detected for the femoral neck section modulus phenotype. The locus indicating the strongest evidence of association (P=1.11E10-8) was identified as the region of chromosome 2q31.1 and contains a homeobox D cluster of genes. The homeobox genes encode a highly conserved family of transcription factors are involved in limb development and skeletal differentiation. Previous studies have shown that deletions of the HOXD gene cluster result in a dominantly inherited disease resulting in synpolydactyly and lib malformations¹⁵¹. Cartilage and bone defects have also been characterize in detail with this deletion¹⁵². The first phase of HOXD gene expression is necessary for the forearm and upper arm long bone development. In later stages HOXD genes also play a crucial role in the development of the vertebrae¹⁵³. Previous studies have implicated them in the specification of positional identity, as growth regulators, and involved in the timing of differentiation¹⁵⁴. Further HOXD-13 mutations result in the shortening of the long bones, including the femur, tibia, fibula, and the tarsometatarsals. Targeted disruption of HOVD-10 produced mice with hindlimb defects in gait and adduction due to alterations in the vertebral column and in the bones of the hindlimb¹⁵⁵. Other studies targeting the HOXD-3 gene demonstrated that mutations of the gene produced mice with radically remodeled skull¹⁵⁶. Many functional animal studies have proven this cluster of genes essential in bone development.



Figure 14: LocusZoom Plot for Significant Loci Associated with Femoral Neck Section Modulus

The second significant signal was identified as, rs77689273, which neighbors the *NAV3* gene. This gene is a member of the neuron navigator family and is primarily expressed in the nervous system¹⁵⁷. However, the *NAV3* gene promoter is a transcription factor-binding site for STAT1 transcription factor¹⁴⁹. Studies have shown that STAT1 is an inhibitor of osteoblast and osteoclast differentiation. Mice deficient in STAT1 were shown to have increased osteoclast activity, despite showing increased BMD and increase bone formation. These results implicate that STAT1 is involved in multiple pathways that independently regulate bone homeostasis¹⁴⁸. The *STAT1* gene is a critical regulator for both osteoclastogenesis and osteoblast differentiations in skeletal fracture healing. Again, while this is a weaker biological story that other implicated genes,

it is possible that genetic variation in the *NAV3* promoter could alter expression and activity of the STAT1 transcription factor.

Eight total suggestive significance signals were observed for the femoral neck section modulus phenotype. Genes found to have relevance to bone regulation are listed below. Of particular interest is the region including the *TRAT1*, which was implicated with the femoral neck CSA phenotype and reached suggestive significance for the femoral neck section modulus phenotype. Additionally a loci on chromosome 14 was determined to have suggestive significance, this region includes the *BMP4* gene. This gene is a highly conserved, well-studied candidate gene that induces cartilage and bone formation¹⁵⁸. BMP4 also binds with BMPR1A, which is located at another suggestive locus associated with femoral neck width. This complex induces osteoblastogenesis and regulates the expression of the *SOST* gene, which encodes sclerosin, a key regulator of bone homeostasis¹⁵⁹.

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to Bone Biology
SNP			P-value	
rs470186	GALR1	18q23	2.616e-07	Functional studies of GALR1 found that the distribution of GALR1 was more extensive in reserve zone chondrocytes. The concentration of ligand for this receptor, galanin, was significantly increased in rats with rib fracture. This study strongly implicated Galanin and GALR1 as involved in cartilage growth plate physiology and fracture repair ¹⁶⁰ .
rs1583390	ASIC2	17q12	5.462e-07	Found to be abundant in specialized human bone cells, this gene was nominated as a candidate gene for sensing and regulating bone balances serum pH variations. pH sensing Acid- sensing channels 2 (ASIC2) are found in both osteoblasts and osteoclasts and may explain how bone cell function can be modulated by environmental pH under physiological and pathological conditions ¹⁶¹ .
rs72915032	ACYP2	2p16.2	8.288e-07	The ACYP2 gene is involved in hydrolysis of phosphoenzyme intermediates of different membrane pumps, particularly the Ca2+/Mg2+-/ATPase from sarcoplasmic reticulum of skeletal muscle ¹⁶² . This loci was identified as significant in previously published GWAS studies on the genetic determinants of heel bone properties, bone mineral density, and risk of fractures ¹⁶³ .
rs73204757	TRAT1	3q13.13	1.687e-07	The <i>TRAT1</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT1</i> gene ¹⁴⁵ .
Rs73294246	CSNK1G3	5q23.2	9.949e-07	Identified in previously published association study of blood pressure and bone mineral density ¹⁶⁴ .
rs111708633	BMP4	14q22.2	7.829e-07	The BMP4 is a highly conserved member of the bone morphogenetic protein family, a family that stimulates growth and differentiation factors. The gene induces cartilage and bone formation. The BMP4 gene also acts in limb formation, tooth development, mesoderm induction, and fracture repair. A reduction in expression has been linked with a number of bone diseases including Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva, a dominantly inherited disorder of aberrant joint formation and heterotropic bone formation ^{158,165–169} .

Table 16: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck Section Modulus

3.3.3 Femoral Neck Width GWAS



The Manhattan plot for the GWAS of femoral neck width is shown in Figure 15.

Figure 15: Manhattan Plot for Femoral Neck Width

For the femoral neck width phenotype, no genome-wide significant signals were detected. Three suggestive significance signals were observed for the femoral neck width phenotype. A SNP neighboring the *BMPR1A* gene was found to have a suggestive association. The *BMPR1A* gene interacts with many candidate genes of bone biology and many previous studies have demonstrated the impact BMPR1A has bone osteoblast activity, bone turnover, and age dependent bone development¹⁷⁰.

Suggestive	Gene	Chr.	Suggestive	Gene Function Relevance to Bone
SNP			P-value	Biology
rs12982091	ZNF98	19q12	6.812e-07	The <i>ZNF98</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for <i>GATA-1</i> ¹⁷¹ .
rs75188850	BMPRIA	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>BMPR1A</i> gene encodes the bone morphogenetic protein receptor which ligands to the transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) pathway. When the <i>BMPR1A</i> / TGF- β complex is bound the SMAD protein complex is activated. Research investigating osteoblast-specific disruption of the <i>BMPR1A</i> gene yielded normal numbers of osteoblasts, however, irregular calcification, low bone mass, and reduced bone resorption and bone turnover. Studies have demonstrate critical and age-dependent roles for BMP signaling by <i>BMPR1A</i> in osteoblasts for bone remodeling. Similarly, deletion of <i>BMPR1A</i> gene in osteoclasts increases osteoblastic bone formation, suggesting that <i>BMPR1A</i> signaling negatively regulates osteoclast differentiation. Soluble BMPR1A protein inhibitor is now being researched as a therapy to stimulate bone formation and restore bone mass in mice with low BMD ^{170,172,173} .
rs75188850	MMRN2	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>MMRN2</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT1</i> and <i>PPAR-Gamma-1</i> genes ¹⁷⁴ .
rs75188850	SNCG	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>SNCG</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>PPAR-Gamma-1</i> gene ¹⁷⁵ .
rs75188850	FAM25A	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>FAM25A</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>GATA-1</i> , <i>FOXO1A</i> and <i>ER-alpha</i> genes ¹⁷⁶ .
rs75188850	AGAP11	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>AGAP11</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>STAT1</i> and <i>PPAR-Gamma-1</i> genes ¹⁷⁷ .
rs75188850	GLUD1	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>GLUD1</i> gene promoter is a transcription factor binding site for the <i>ER-alpha</i> gene ¹⁷⁸ .
rs75188850	MINPPI	10q22.3	1.316e-06	The <i>MINPP1</i> gene encodes an enzyme that removes 3-phosphate from inositol phosphate substrates in order to regulate cellular levels of inositol pentakisphosphate. This conserved gene may play a role in bone development, specifically endochondral ossification. Although Minpp1 expression is highly upregulated during endochondral ossification, normal chondrocyte differentiation and longitudinal bone development were observed in Minpp1-deficient mice ¹⁷⁹ .

Table 17: Suggestive Genes Associated with Femoral Neck Width
4.0 **DISCUSSION**

Osteoporosis is a serious public health concern that results in increased bone fragility and risk of fracture for millions of individuals in the U.S. Though current research has focused primarily on bone health in the elderly, early bone health, including peak BMD attainment, is the strongest determinant of bone health later in life. Twin and family studies have consistently established a strong genetic component in peak BMD, though the specific genes influencing variation in bone development are largely unknown¹⁸⁰. Moreover, the question of whether the genes influencing bone health during childhood are the same as those influencing bone health later in life is currently unknown. In this study we performed ten separate GWAS scans to detect genetic variants associated with ten different bone phenotypes including site specific bone mineral density, bone mineral content, and bone geometry measurements. We successfully identified five GWAS significant loci and nominated many potential bone specific genes. Implicated genes are believed to be involved in a variety of possible processes such as embryonic bone development, bone remodeling, and fracture repair, which is consistent with the prevailing view that the genetic etiology of bone health includes many genes acting through multiple pathways.

This study is one of the first studies to determine genetic associations with childhood bone health. We successfully identified four novel, significant genomic loci and overall, 30 loci significantly or suggestively associated with childhood bone health. Our hypothesis generating investigation of common variants of the genome provides novel insights into bone biology, implicating several genes clustering in pathways influencing bone development.

Our results highlight the polygenic nature underlying bone development and variation in bone health and the essential role of several biological pathways that influence osteoporosis risk.

Pathways have been constructed, utilizing previous literature, in order to propose interactions between the genes implicated in this study and well known candidate genes. Further these pathways illustrate how changes or variations in our implicated genes can lead to changes in bone health during development.

Below is a table of well-known candidate genes of bone biology that are believed to also be interacting with the implicated genes of this study.

Candidate Gene	Proposed Function
RANK/RANKL	RANK/RANKL signals the formation of osteoclast precursors, activation, and survival in normal bone remodeling ^{5,26,27} . Mice deficient in RANKL and RANK develop osteopetrosis because of the inability to form osteoclasts ^{28,29} .
OPG	This gene acts as a negative regulator of bone resorption. Overexpression blocks osteoclast formation inducing osteopetrosis. Gene knockout results in enhanced bone remodeling and bone loss, resulting in osteoporosis ⁵ .
COL1A1/2	Encode matrix proteins. The expression of these genes and the balance of collagen fibrils are essential for proper formation of bone. Poor collagen quality results in reduced bone strength. Mutations in the <i>COL1A1</i> gene results in osteogenesis imperfect, a genetic condition with a phenotype of extremely severe osteoporosis ^{8,20,21} .
LRP5	A receptor for canonical Wnt signaling. Wnt signaling is involved in processes including apoptosis, limb development, and osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation. Knockout mice have shown low bone mass is a result of decreased osteoblast proliferation ^{13,30} .
TGF-β1	Abundant in bone matrix, the released TGF-B1 protein is an essential controller of osteoblast proliferation and differentiation. Gene knockout results in osteopenic phenotype ³¹ .
Osterix	Transcriptional regulator expressed in chondrocytes and in osteoblasts. Targeted inactivation of this gene led to the complete absence of bone synthesis throughout the skeletal and a loss of most markers of bone differentiation ²⁰ .

Table 1: Candidate Genes of Bone Development for Previous Literature

Table 1 Continued

VDR	The first candidate gene to be investigated in the osteoporosis field, the <i>VDR</i> gene encodes the vitamin D receptor, which allows the body to metabolize vitamin D 21 .
ESR1	Encoding estrogen receptor, believed to have a role in modulating osteoclast differentiation and function. Several polymorphisms in this gene have been connected with the rate of bone loss after menopause ²⁰ .
ΤΝF-α	TNF-alpha is believed to reduce osteoblast mediated mineralization while simultaneously inducing osteoclast differentiation ^{32,5} .
RUNX2	Key transcription factor that induces proliferations and differentiation into preosteoblasts and mature osteoblasts and therefore bone formation ² .
SOST	The <i>SOST</i> gene encodes the protein sclerostin in osteocytes. The main role of this protein is to inhibit bone formation by interfering with Wnt signaling. Sclerostin may also promote apoptosis in bone cells, further inhibiting bone growth. ²¹ .
SOX9	A critical transcription factor for BMP1 induced chondrocyte differentiation and osteoblast activity ³³ .
SMAD1	This gene is believed to play a key role in bone development and postnatal bone formation. SMAD proteins control the expression of RUNX2 ³⁴ .



Figure 16: Pathway of COL11A1 Interactions

COL11A1 is directly and indirectly involved in numerous pathways throughout the cell. First, COL11A1 is believed to regulate osteoblastogenesis and terminal osteoblast differentiation. The protein also reacts with BMP2 and BMP4, key components in osteoblast production and the translation of sclerosin, which is a critical regulator of osteoblast activity. Mechanical stress is also hypothesized to inhibit collagen formation. COL11A1 inhibits PARP1, of which the enzymatic activity contributes to reduced bone mass. Lastly, *COL11A1* promoter is a transcription factor binding site for PPAR and SOX9. SOX9 is involved in the activation of COL2A1 and PPAR is involved in the regulation of *HOXD10* and *HOXD13*^{123,125,181–192}.



Figure 17: Pathway of COL13A1 Interactions

COL13A1 is indirectly involved with the Vitamin D receptor, a candidate gene in bone biology. COL13A1 is also believed to be indirectly involved in the calcium homeostasis process. COL13A1 interacts with COL11A, which as described above, inhibits osteoblast differentiation. COL13A1 may lead to osteoblast differentiation and therefore increase bone formation^{97,99,193–195}.



Figure 18: Pathway of HOXD Gene Cluster Interactions

The Homeobox D cluster of genes is an evolutionarily conserved family that is involved in limb development and skeletal differentiation. HOXD proteins form a complex with SMAD1 that impacts the expression of RUNX2, a vital regulator of osteoblast proliferation and differentiation, indirectly regulates BMP2 and BMP4, key components in osteoblast production, and reacts with SHH, known to enhance bone regeneration. *BMP4* gene protein also acts as a binding site for HOXD13 to influence RUNX2 expression and therefore bone formation^{2,151,155,196–200}.



Figure 19: Pathway for TRAT1 and NAV3 Gene Interactions

The promoter of the *TRAT1* gene is a transcription factor binding site for STAT3. STAT3 activates BMP2, a key regulator of bone homeostasis. STAT3 also creates a complex with SMAD1 and p300, which can stimulate osteoblast activity, chondrocyte production, as well as osteoclastogenesis. The promoter of the *NAV3* gene is a transcription factor binding site for STAT1. STAT1 can negatively regulate osteoblast and osteoclast activity during bone development. STAT1 also reacts with RUNX2, which induces osteoblast differentiation^{145,147–149,201}. While these two implicated genes have a weaker relevance and biological connection to

bone development compared to other nominated genes, these genes have the potential to impact bone variation.

Our study nominated five significant loci, four of these loci are novel and have not previously been implicated in GWAS studies of child or adult bone health. The significant signal for hip BMC observed for rs12564863 on chromosome 1q21 has previously been identified in a GWAS meta-analysis associated with BMD and risk of fracture in adults. These results suggest that the genetic contributors to bone health and normal bone variation may change in their regulation of bone development over time however, some candidate genes may play a significant role throughout the lifespan.

Overall, the results of this study forward our understanding of the genetic contributors to bone health early in life. Investigations, such as this, into the genetics of bone development in children may also yield insight into the genetic factors that contribute to bone health later in life. This research has major public health significance because this information may ultimately aid in determining if some individuals have a high genetic risk for poor bone health. This idea could lead to screening programs aimed at specifically identifying children that have a genetic predisposition or genetic risk factors for osteoporosis later life. In the high-risk children that may be identified, effective, targeted interventions could be implemented early in order to promote optimal bone health before peak bone mass is reached.

4.1 LIMITATIONS

While this study has many strengths, including well-defined bone phenotypes, high-quality GWAS data, and extensive gene annotation, our study has limitations. A major limitation is the lack of

replication with a small sample size. This issue is partly lessened by the compelling biological evidence of the implicated genes in mechanisms related to bone health. However, this study included 296 children with an average age of 5 years. Observed genetic associations need to be replicated in independent data sets. Additional research with a larger sample will allow our findings to be confirmed, identify any missed loci, and many give more information on the effect size of each variant. Due to the small sample size, this study suffered from low power to detect any particular variant, therefore we most likely missed other true associations. Areas of suggestive significance would also benefit greatly from a larger study to see if in fact associations with those loci are statistically significant.

Another potential limitation to this study is the possible influence of un-modeled sources of phenotype variation in the GWAS analysis. Covariates included age, height, sex, weight, and principle components. Future analysis could include the lifestyle data recorded for the children as part of the Iowa Bone Development Study. These lifestyle data include diet and exercise measurements. Because of the known impact of a balanced diet, including essential vitamins and minerals for bone development, and physical activity on bone health, these factors surely influence bone phenotype measurements. Including these data in our analysis may increase the power to detect genetic factors by reducing phenotypic variance due to environmental factors known to contribute to bone health. On the other hand, inclusion of additional covariates would consume additional degrees of freedom in the statistical model, thereby reducing power to detect genetic association. Each approach has costs and possible benefits, and it is not known whether or not adjustment for additional sources of phenotypic variance would ultimately benefit the study. Nevertheless, omission of lifestyle data or other un-modeled environmental sources of phenotypic variation would not bias the present analysis (i.e., would not cause false positive associations) because the constitutional genome is inherited and therefore not susceptible to confounding by environmental factors.

Lastly, the SNPs identified in this study are not necessarily causal variants. It is likely that some or most of the SNPs identified are in linkage disequilibrium with the underlying causal variants. It was our goal to determine plausible causal genes underlying the GWAS signals. However, follow-up studies are needed to verify the nominated genes and to identify the causal variants. Ultimately, functional analysis of the genes and causal variants will be required in order to understand the biological mechanisms through which they exert their effects.

4.2 FUTURE WORK

Because there are still many unanswered questions and unknown factors in bone biology and specifically the genetic regulators that contribute to bone health, there are many possible future directions for this research. Possible directions are outlined below.

4.2.1 A Priori Research

As the GWAS has matured as an approach for studying complex disease, several methods have been proposed to more effectively utilize the wealth of data created. These methods include a priori information, such as gene expression and biological function²⁰². While this information was included in this study by annotating top hits, future studies could include a more in depth analysis of a priori candidate gene information. This information will allow us to identify all of the previous implicated loci and candidate genes related to bone health and determine the significance of those

genetic variants with our GWAS data. This method not only allows us to analyze the significance of well-known candidate genes in child populations but also acts as positive control measure. If we are able to confirm associations with known candidate genes, then we can interpret our findings of novel loci and implicated genes with more confidence.

4.2.2 Genetic Risk Score

While GWAS is hypothesis generating and aiming to determine genes associated with variations in bone health, future work could incorporate this information to predict the risk of poor bone health and osteoporosis later in life. Several recent publications have utilized loci associated with adult bone mineral density to develop a genetic risk score algorithm that calculates the number of genetic risk variants for bone health. These genetic risk scores were then used to investigate the effect of reported GWAS-implicated BMD variants in children. These studies found that a higher genetic risk score (associated with a higher number of BMD-lowering variants) was negatively associated with BMD and BMC during childhood and adolescence and was associated with a slower rate of bone accrual during adolescence³⁶. Rather than detecting single variants, with potentially small effect sizes, associated with poor bone health to identify children with a genetic predisposition to osteoporosis, calculating genetic risk scores could be more effective.

Future analysis could use this study's genome-wide significant loci and suggestive variants to develop a genetic risk score. Statistical analysis would determine if bone phenotype measurements were significantly different with a corresponding genetic risk score.

70

4.2.3 Longitudinal Data

This study focused on bone health for one target age, with the average age of 5 years, ranging from 4 to 7 years old. Future studies could include GWAS performed on the same bone phenotypes at several different ages of these children. As the Iowa Bone Development Study is a longitudinal study, this information would be readily available. This research could be repeated utilizing bone measurements at ages 11, 15, and 20 to determine if the genetic variants with a strong significance have the same the same significance at different ages at bone accrual rates. This information would shed light on the tightly regulated genetic pathways that influence bone health throughout the childhood and adolescence and the possible differences of genetic factors at different developmental periods. Moreover, longitudinal analysis methods, that simultaneously model the trajectory of bone phenotypes over time, could also be used for gene-mapping of the changes in bone health from childhood to adolescence to adulthood.

4.3 CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this study aimed to identify genetic variants that contribute to the variation in bone health in children. Research on the genetics of bone health has predominantly been performed in adult populations, however, it is our hypothesis that the genetic regulators of bone health may be stronger in childhood during a higher amount of bone production, bone accrual, and in the lack of many environmental factors that influence poor bone health in adults. To identify variants and genes implicated in childhood bone health, we performed separate genome-wide association studies for ten bone health phenotypes. Five genome-wide significant ($P \le 5 \ge 10^{-8}$) and twenty-

eight suggestive (P<10⁻⁶) loci were identified in total. Associated loci included several genes with plausible roles related to bone health, such as *COL11A1*, *COL13A1*, *TRAT1*, *NAV3*, and a *HOXD* gene cluster. Implicated genes may represent significant roles in the converging pathways that regulate BMD, embryonic bone development, and bone remodeling. Furthermore, understanding the genetic determinants of bone health during childhood may have implications across the lifespan. Though osteoporosis is usually viewed as an age-related disorder, risk of osteoporosis is impacted by events occurring much early in life, including phases of bone mineral acquisition during youth. Therefore, identifying the genetic contributors for early skeletal health, such as genes implicated in this study, may ultimately lead to screening programs to identify children with a genetic risk factors for poor bone health and targeted interventions for those at high risk, to optimize bone health in adolescence, promote management of bone health across the lifespan, and lower risk for osteoporosis later in life.

5.0 PUBLIC HEALTH APPLICATION

As the knowledge of bone biology and the genetic contributions of bone health increases, efforts must be made to incorporate this understanding into the clinical realm. Incorporating genomics into clinical and public health practice is a way to identify high-risk individuals, emphasize prevention of disease, and promote the overall health of the community. If genetic risk factors for osteoporosis and poor bone health can be identified then a population-based health intervention could be implemented to identify children with a genetic predisposition in order to maximize the benefits of nutritional and physical interventions to optimize peak bone mass achieved during young adulthood. This chapter aims to propose a pilot childhood bone health screening program and intervention program for individuals found to be at higher risk.

Bone health is particularly amenable to a population- and community-based intervention because 1) bone fractures and osteoporosis affect a large portion of the population, 2) there is a widespread lack of knowledge about osteoporosis prevention and when peak bone mass is acquired, 3) state and local governments have incentives to promote this approach due to the cost of treating bone disease, and 4) the benefits of community based interventions extend to other areas of health, including diet and physical activity^{203,204}.

5.1 PREVIOUS EXAMPLES OF PUBLIC HEALTH GENETIC SCREENING PROGRAMS

Public health genetic screening programs have been utilized for decades in order to identify patients and families at risk for genetic conditions in order to change medical management and optimize the prognosis. The most prominent example of public health genetic screening is Newborn Screening (NBS). NBS screens for genetic conditions that negatively impact a child's long-term health or survival. Early detection, diagnosis, and treatment can prevent death or disability in identified children and can enable children to reach full potential. NBS identifies more than 6,000 babies with genetic conditions each year and represents the "public health success story" of this decade²⁰⁵." The Recommended Uniform Screening Panel (RUSP) must approve conditions screened for with NBS. Evaluation for additions to NBS is based on a set of criteria that includes the natural history of the disorder, availability and accuracy of screening, availability of treatment, cost- effectiveness, clinical validity and utility, and time-sensitive nature²⁰⁶. This set of criteria is used as a benchmark for many public health programs to determine need and effectiveness. More evidence is needed to prove that a bone health screening program meets this set of criteria. However, NBS provides a successful example for future public health screening programs with the goal of early intervention and treatment in order to benefit long- term health.

Another recent public health genetic screening initiative includes Familial Hypercholesterolemia (FH) screening. FH is an autosomal dominant genetic condition characterized by abnormally high concentrations of LDL cholesterol, which causes a predisposition to premature heart disease and death. FH is one of the most common inherited disorders, and early diagnosis can initiate life style changes and the most effective disease management earlier. Overall, estimates are that less than 25% of those affected with FH are

diagnosed and the majority remains untreated or improperly treated. FH screening, through cholesterol screening, is a key public health program that aims to identify patients with FH, begin proper medical management, improve prognosis, reduce disease costs, and extend the program to cascade screening in order to other family members with this genetic risk factor to heart disease²⁰⁷. A recent meta-analysis of published data on cholesterol levels in FH individuals showed that when LDL was measured between 1 year and puberty, 96% of those with FH were detected with a false-positive rate of 1%²⁰⁸. Due to the evidence of early identification and management, the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) has recently cholesterol screening between the ages of 9 and 11 years to the schedule of screening and assessments for well-child visits²⁰⁹. FH screening is a nice parallel for bone health screening, specifically in children, because FH and osteoporosis do not necessarily cause serious health concerns from an early age, but early management and prevention can prevent serious outcomes later in life.

Lastly, another public health screening program that could serve as an example for a proposed bone health-screening program is universal immunohistochemistry (IHC) screening of all colon and uterine tumors. Universal screening of all newly diagnosed colon and uterine cancers through immunohistochemistry is a way to identify patients that may have Lynch syndrome, one of the most common hereditary cancer syndromes, in which 95% of affected individuals are undiagnosed²¹⁰. IHC screens for a germline mutation in a mismatch repair gene which causes increased lifetime risk for cancers including colon, uterine, stomach, ovarian, bowel, as well as other types²¹¹. Diagnosis, through gene sequencing following screening, of this condition through universal screening can give insight into the potential risk for other types of cancer for the patient and family members, allowing for increased screening and possible surgeries to either prevent cancer or detect cancer early. While this screening program is different from the previous examples

because it is a screening tool for individuals that have already developed cancer, it is useful in identifying individuals with a single gene disorder that can be affected by environmental influences and early medical management.

NBS, FH, and Lynch syndrome screening are all included on the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Office of Public Health Genomics Tier 1 List of genomic applications. This department aims to provide "timely and credible information for the effective and responsible translation of genome- based discoveries into public health and health care"²¹². A tiered system is used to distinguish between methods and tests of sufficient evidence of validity, clinical utility, promising evidence, and insufficient evidence. Tier 1 is the highest level of evidence, in which these tests inform are required to inform medical management, testing is covered by insurance, and clinical practice guidelines are based on systematic review supporting these tests. A genetic screening program for bone health in children would currently most likely fall under the Tier 3 level. This is because there is insufficient evidence of cost and clinical effectiveness. In order to obtain evidence, pilot studies need to be initiated, studying the best protocol for a program such as this²¹².

There are many examples of public health genetic screening programs that provide models to build a bone health genetic screening program off of. These past examples include a focus on health promotion and disease prevention through the ability to identify individuals suspected of strong genetic risk factors in order to begin interventions and treatment early to in turn reap the most benefits and optimize health prevention later in life. These programs also have a strong emphasis on the implications of other family members and cascade family strategies. The core goals of these past programs can be easily applied to childhood bone health and implementing a genetic screening program, bringing the understanding of the genetics of bone health into the practice and demonstrating the clinical validity of this information.

5.2 PROPOSAL FOR BONE HEALTH SCREENING

While there are still many unanswered questions regarding the genetics of bone biology and the variation in bone health, the increase in understanding in the field has increased dramatically in the past decade and could be used in the near future to improve bone health in children in order to prevent bone disease later in life. This approach emphasizes disease prevention early in life rather than disease treatment later in life, which is direction of the majority of research and care for osteoporosis.

This proposal for a bone health screening program would be a future research study that utilizes well known SNPs associated with variation in BMD, BMC, and bone geometry, as well as the genome-wide significant results of this current study. This proposed program would also act to inform public health practice and guidelines for management of children with genetic risk factors for poor bone health.

The goals of a bone health screening program include 1) identifying children at risk for poor bone health later in life, 2) begin interventions early in childhood to optimize peak BMD, and 3) provide skills and knowledge to high risk children in order to maintain healthy bones over time.

A calculated genetic risk score will be used to identify children with higher risk for poor bone health. This genetic risk score will take into account the number of SNPs (identified in previous literature as well as this study) associated with low BMD and BMC and poor bone geometry, sex, race, family history of bone disease, and age. A threshold will be established and children with a genetic risk score above that threshold will be considered "high-risk" and will be recommended for further interventions. The approach of a genetic risk score was utilized in another recently published study³⁶. This study used adult identified BMD-lowering variants and generated genetic risk scores to determine if previously identified variants in adults are associated with variation in BMD during childhood. A higher genetic risk score was found to be negatively linked with BMD and BMC at the age of 13 and was associated with a slower rate of bone accrual between the ages of 13 and 17 years³⁶. While this study did not include sex or multiple site phenotypes, clinical validity was proven between a calculated genetic risk score and identifying individuals with poorer childhood bone health.

The genes and SNPs tested to determine a genetic risk score should include well-studied candidate genes and loci in adults as well as the genes and loci implicated in studies focused on children. Because the current research on candidate genes associated with bone health has been primarily focused on the elderly population and research on genes involved in bone development in children still needs further investigation, genes of interest will change as knowledge and understanding of genetic regulators of bone development increases as well as when we better understand the difference in genetic contributors to bone homeostasis at different periods of life. However, for the purpose of this pilot study, the panel of genes will stay the same; adjustments can be made in subsequent applications. Rapid changes in the genes on available panels is however a challenge for genetics in setting and is not something necessarily unique to bone genetics or this pilot study.

This proposal is for a future program, therefore there are significant limitations and assumptions being made currently. Assumptions that must be made in order for this program to be successful include:

- 1. The genes sequenced are significant and impactful in childhood bone health.
- 2. There are no other significant and impactful genes that affect childhood bone health.
- A Next Gen Sequencing Panel (NGS) can be built to include well-known candidate genes and SNPs for bone health in adults and children.
- 4. Variations and mutations that are associated with lower peak bone mass are known and can be identified via NGS
- 5. The detection rate for these variations and mutations is over 90%.
- 6. The sensitivity, specificity, and positive predictive value for these variations and mutations are significant for poor bone health later in life.

It is clear given the above assumptions that need to be met that this program is for a future time. More research is needed to make this proposal a reality. However, given the significant public health burden of osteoporosis and the popularity of research on the genetics of bone health, this proposal may be a reality in the near future. If the above assumptions could be met and this screening program could be implemented, the associated interventions that would be recommended are outlined below.

The proposed pilot research study will take place in the city of Pittsburgh. The population will include five hundred healthy children; age 5 years that are seeing Pittsburgh primary care physicians (PCPs) for checkups and wellness visits. For the purpose of this proposal, the age of 5 years was decided because of the age of interest studied in the GWAS previously. Deciding on the age to target for a screening program proved to be a complicated matter. We want the program and interventions to begin early enough that skills are able to become habit, but also at an age when children will be compliant to diet and exercise changes.

79

Previous intervention studies have targeted children as young as seven years. Again, the decision to target children age 5 years is based on the population studied for our previous research, however, age may need to be adjusted in subsequent applications.

In order to reach this population, education of Pittsburgh PCPs on the genetic risk factors of poor bone health and the effectiveness of interventions during childhood will be needed. This educational plan for the local providers will include a baseline survey of current PCP knowledge on bone health as well as a continuing education online module for PCP's focused on the background issues of this program. Print material for all families meeting the above criteria will be created to give families information on 1) general strategies to maintain and optimize bone health during childhood and in adulthood, 2) genetic testing and associated benefits and risks, and 3) the recommended interventions of the program to optimize bone health. This print material will be provided to all local PCPs and will be handed out by the PCPs. Families that are interested in the screening program will schedule a pre-test counseling session with a genetic counselor prior to any genetic testing or the calculation of a genetic risk score. Children who have undergone genetic testing and are found to have a high genetic risk score will be recommended to participate in the interventions outlined below.

5.3 **PROPOSED INTERVENTIONS**

While a number of population based interventions have been implemented and studied to promote bone health, very few have been targeted at children, and even fewer have combined so many factors, including education, diet, and physical activity. Previous examples of interventions focused on bone health have also been established on a community level without any associated screening program to identify those in the community at a higher risk based on race, genetic risk factors, or family history of bone disease. This proposed intervention intends to include as many of the factors that contribute to osteoporosis as possible in order to provide the most effective and all-encompassing prevention strategy.

Children identified as high-risk for bone disease later in life, through the above screening program, will be recommended to participate in this intervention program. Those that wish to participate will be instructed to undergo baseline BMD, BMC, and bone geometry measurements using DXA. Additionally a survey will be issued to the child's parents to assess the child's activity level, diet, and any exposures in the household. Following the baseline measurements, children in this program will be scheduled sessions to meet with a nutritionist and a physical trainer.

The first aspect of this intervention program is to ensure a healthy and sufficient diet rich in the nutrients need for healthy bones. As outlined in the Introduction chapter of this paper, vitamin D, calcium, vitamin K, potassium, and magnesium are necessary for strong bones. Additionally limiting salt intake, caffeine, and phosphate can promote favorable bone health⁵². In order to educate families and give the tools to promote and practice this healthy diet, this program intervention includes sessions with a nutritionist once a month for the first three months of the program and then once every four months following that.

Previous studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of dietary strategies on bone health. In one study, the DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diet, a calcium rich diet that is made up of mostly fruits, vegetables, and low fat dairy products, significantly reduced bone turnover, improved BMD, and improved calcium metabolism in adults²¹³. Another study investigating the effects of a 30-month dietary intervention, combined supplements of dairy products fortified with calcium and vitamin D3 alongside nutrition and lifestyle counseling, on BMD of postmenopausal women. The result of this study demonstrated that this dietary intervention significantly increased arm, spine, and total body BMD²¹⁴. Based on the evidence of previous intervention programs, nutrition counseling is a key aspect of this program that will not only promote healthier bones but also have benefits towards children's overall health and hopefully have a positive impact on the family as a whole.

The second aspect of this intervention program is to increase the physical activity of children. Weight-bearing physical activity initiates bone remodeling and bone formation, making bones stronger as a result. Weight-bearing physical activity includes actions such as walking, running, jumping rope, playing tennis, hockey, and basketball, dancing, hiking, and lifting weights. It is recommended that children and adolescents should have sixty minutes of physical activity every day and that bone-strengthening activities should be done at least three days a week²¹⁵.

To maximize the benefit of physical activity on childhood bone health, this program will include group family physical training classes. These classes will allow for six family groups each, each group including any interested family member, and will occur once every two weeks for the first four months and then once per month for the following six months. The goals of these classes are to promote habitual physical activity, provide examples of bone-strengthening activities, and promote exercise as a family activity. At least one parent is required to be present with the child at each class and there is an expectation that the families will continue exercises in between classes and after the classes are finished.

Many previous studies have demonstrated the positive impact of exercise on bone health. One previous intervention program implemented in Sweden studied the influence of a three year school exercise program, in which children had physical education for 40 minutes each day, and results showed that this moderately intense exercise program in 7-9 year old children increased bone mass, BMC, without increasing fracture risk²¹⁶. Another study studied the relationship between habitual physical activity and bone geometry in premenarcheal girls. This study showed that physical activity affects bone health in a dose-depended manner. Girls that participated in a high level of physical activity had greater bone thickness, cross-sectional area, BMC, and BMD when compared to their physically inactive or moderate active counterparts. Additionally studies have shown that children and young adults who participate in intensive weight- bearing activity in elite sports have significantly greater BMD than less active controls and that the effects of activity on bone are site specific⁵⁹.

For this pilot study, we have elected not to include a control group to determine effectiveness of the interventions. Determining a suitable comparison group was not a straightforward issue. Several options of a control group included children determined to have a low genetic risk score that continue with the proposed interventions, children that are determined to have a low genetic risk score but are found to have poor bone health, through baseline measurements, that continue with the proposed interventions, or children determined to have a high genetic risk score that do not participate in the proposed interventions. Because each of these possibilities would be comparing the effectiveness of the intervention in a specific genetic risk score group or would be withholding beneficial interventions from those at high risk, rather than measuring the effectiveness of the interventions when children at risk are identified and participate in interventions early in life, we elected not to include a control group.

In order for this intervention program to be successful, several assumptions were made. These assumptions include:

1. These interventions will improve bone health outcomes of children with high genetic risk factors.

- 2. Skills and knowledge initiated at this age will be able to become habitual and implemented into life routine.
- Guidelines have not yet been established for the recommendations of management of children found to be genetically predisposed to poor bone health.
- 4. This program would be a research study in order to inform public health practice and guidelines for management of at–risk children.
- Families will comprehend the education provided in nutrition counseling and physical training sessions and will activity try to implement these skills into daily life.
- 6. Expected child bone growth curves are available for comparison.

5.4 INTERVENTION OUTCOMES AND EVALUATIONS

The projected outcomes of these interventions and the ways in which the impact of these interventions will be measured and evaluated are outlined in the Logic Model below (Figure 16). Short term goals are that 60% of families take the provided print materials with information on the bone health program, 30% of families schedule a genetic counseling session for pre-test counseling, and 10% of families decide to participate in the program within one year of the program's initiation. Short term outcomes will be evaluated by the uptake of print materials, the number of scheduled genetic counseling sessions, and the number of families that undergo baseline BMD measurements, genetic testing, and complete a lifestyle survey.

Inputs	Outp	Participation	Ohard	Outcomes	1
	Activities	ranucipation	Snort	Meaium	Long
Program Director/ Coordinator Program Assistant Genetic Testing laboratory Supplies for print material Partnerships Pittsburgh PCPs Partnerships National Osteoporosis Foundation Funding through grants and state funding	Education of Pittsburgh PCP's on genetic risk factors of poor bone health and osteoporosis later in life -Baseline survey of PCP knowledge -Create continuing education course for PCPs Create print material for all families on bone health Create print materials for parents to explain genetic testing, benefits and risks, and the recommended interventions to optimize bone health. Genetic testing for genes affecting bone health	Children Age 5 receiving care from a PCP in Pittsburgh Parents of Children age 5 receiving care from a PCP in Pittsburgh PCPs in Pittsburgh Nurse Practioners in Pittsburgh	 60% of Families take print information on the program. 30% of Families schedule a genetic counseling session for pre- test counseling 10% of Families decided to participate in the program After 1 Year of Program initiation 	60% of children found to have a genetic risk factor for poor bone health and osteoporosis begin the planned interventions of meeting with a nutritionist and physical trainer Children participating in interventions will come to 80% of events After 2 Years of Program initiation	 70% of children undergoing interventions will increase bone mineral density by at least 10 percentile after 1 year of the intervention. 20% of children will continue the lifestyle practices for 2 years 10% of children will continue lifestyle practices for 3 years 70% of children who continued practices will optimize peak BMD by 20 percentile of the expected BMD.
Public Health	Pre-test counseling with a				
Department	genetic counselor			Evaluations	
Department Genetic Counselors	genetic counselor Baseline survey assessing		Short	Evaluations <i>Medium</i>	Long
Department Genetic Counselors Nutritionists	genetic counselor Baseline survey assessing children's activity level and diet		Short	Evaluations Medium	Long
Department Genetic Counselors Nutritionists Physical Trainers	genetic counselor Baseline survey assessing children's activity level and diet Establish stakeholder committee.		Short Assessment of uptake of the print materials	Evaluations Medium	Long BMD measurements performed after 2 years of initiation in the program
Department Genetic Counselors Nutritionists Physical Trainers	genetic counselor Baseline survey assessing children's activity level and diet Establish stakeholder committee. For high- risk children: -Baseline BMD measurements		Short Assessment of uptake of the print materials Assessment of scheduled and genetic counseling sessions	Evaluations Medium Assessment of nutritionist and physical trainer schedules and the rate of no-shows	Long BMD measurements performed after 2 years of initiation in the program compared to baseline measurements. BMD measurements
Department Genetic Counselors Nutritionists Physical Trainers	genetic counselor Baseline survey assessing children's activity level and diet Establish stakeholder committee. For high- risk children: -Baseline BMD measurements		Short Assessment of uptake of the print materials Assessment of scheduled and genetic counseling sessions	Evaluations Medium Assessment of nutritionist and physical trainer schedules and the rate of no-shows Stakeholders meeting	Long BMD measurements performed after 2 years of initiation in the program compared to baseline measurements. BMD measurements performed after 3 years of initiation in the arcorare

Program: Genetic Bone Health Screening and Intervention Program in Children

- Guidelines may not have been established for the recommendations of management of children found to be genetically predisposed to poor bone health.
 This program would be a research study in order to inform public health practice and guidelines for management of at -risk children.
 Expected child bone growth curves are available for comparison.

Figure 20: Logic Model

to the program.

Medium-term goals are that 60% of children found to have a higher genetic risk score begin the planned interventions of meeting with a nutritionist and physical trainer, and that participating children will attend at least 80% of the program events. Reminder calls and messages can be used to remind families of program events. The medium-term goals are projected to be met within 2 years of the program's initiation. Medium-term outcomes will be evaluated through nutritionist and physical trainer schedules and the rate of no-shows or cancelations.

Long-term goals are that 70% of the children undergoing the recommended interventions will show at least a 10 percentile increase in bone mineral density after participating in the program for 1 year. Further, 20% of the children that began the program will continue to maintain healthy nutrition and physical activity promoted by the intervention. Ultimately, it is aimed that 70% of the children who continue the promoted lifestyle practices will optimize peak BMD by 20 percentile of their expected BMD. These goals are based on results of previous interventions and the increase seen in treatment groups. Long-term outcomes will be assessed through BMD measurements performed at two and three years following the initiation of the program in comparison to the baseline measurements. This data will also be assessed for trends or differences at different ages and for gender. Additionally, a post survey will be issued to determine if the intervention skills are still utilized. Lastly, a follow-up stakeholders meeting will be conducted to assess overall attitudes towards the program and benefits and challenges that were felt by the community.

A stakeholders meeting will also be planned following sort, medium, and long-term goals to assess any changed attitudes or concerns to the program and the impact on the community.

5.5 ROLES OF A GENETIC COUNSELOR

As the genetic field continues to learn more about the genetic contributions of multifactorial traits and diseases, the roles of genetic counselors must adapt to meet families' concerns, address trends in direct-to-consumer testing, and be able to speak to recurrence risk of complex disorders. For the purpose of genetic screening to identify children with a high risk for bone disease later in life, there are three main skills that must be slightly adapted to meet the unique needs of such a program; these skills include disease education, preservation of patient autonomy, and informed consent.

Multifactorial disease education is an essential skill for genetic counselors in any setting; however, education is largely done on well-known genetic conditions in which the cause, risks, medical management, and familial implications are well studied. The genetics of bone development and the genetic contribution to osteoporosis is lacking in each of the above areas; the interactions of genetics and environment are still largely unknown, the predictive value of genetic risk factors is not known, medical management for children with a genetic predisposition is not established, and we cannot speak to familial risks of osteoporosis or the patterns of inheritance of genetic variants. Counselors should be transparent about the many areas of bone biology that are not clear during pre-test counseling. There should be a clear and understandable illustration of multifactorial inheritance for patients to understand that genetic risk factors and lifestyle factors are both important when discussing risk of osteoporosis. Pre-testing counseling is also a time in which better bone health practices for all members of the family, such as exercise and nutrition, can be shared. While osteoporosis is not often thought to be a disease explained by genetic counselors, counselors have the skill and expertise to clearly explain the genetic contributors and environmental factors that pose a risk to patients.

Because this program would act as a research study with fairly extensive commitments including x-rays, genetic testing, and sessions with several specialists, participant autonomy must be stressed. Parents have the ability to decide to opt-in for genetic test and have the ability to opt-out at any time during the screening or intervention program. Again, the training of genetic counselors prepares them to consent, with a nondirective nature, families into studies and clearly explain the benefits and risks that should be considered.

Lastly, informed consent is required for any patient pursuing genetic testing or participating in a study. This particular screening program does involve some important risks and considerations that parents should be aware of before deciding to pursue genetic testing, even if for variants that affect bone health. First, this screening program is technically genetic testing of minors for an adult onset disease. Genetic testing of minors for adult onset disorders is not recommended until the child can make their own decisions, unless there would be a change in medical management. While there is no treatment that would be initiated based on the genetic testing results, interventions that have been proven to improve bone health before peak bone mass can have significant impact on bone health later in life, improving the overall health and prognosis later in life. Knowing if there is a genetic predisposition to bone disease is only helpful if appropriate interventions are utilized. Another important thought that needs to be considered with families interested in the screening program is the potential familial implications. A high genetic risk score may suggest that other family members also have a genetic predisposition to osteoporosis. While this could mean other family members, particularly older individuals, are evaluated earlier for poor bone health, interventions for older family members may not be as effective as when the interventions are implemented during childhood. However, a low genetic risk score does not mean that there is no risk of osteoporosis and strategies can still be implemented to maintain bone health. These are

several important issues to a bone health genetic screening program that must be conveyed to families before they participate in the program, and a critical role of a participating genetic counselor is the ability to explain these issues to families and ensure informed consent is being prioritized.

In summary, osteoporosis represents a major public health concern, and while efforts are currently more focused on treatment of the disease later in life, prevention strategies should begin during childhood in order to maximize peak bone mass. Individual variation in bone health and peak bone mass is largely controlled by genetics in addition to environmental and behavioral factors. If the genetic variants that are associated with poor bone health, there is a possibility of initiating a public health genetic screening program aimed at identifying children with genetic predispositions to osteoporosis later in life. Identifying these children will allow us to implement effective interventions, such as promoting healthy nutrition and physical activity, early, optimizing the benefit while bone mass is still being formed and developed. Ultimately, the combination of a genetic screening program aim corresponding intervention program aims to utilize the genetics of bone disease in osteoporosis prevention.

APPENDIX A: GENES NEIGHBORING GWAS SIGNIFICANT LOCI

A.1.1 Hip BMD

"

HKDC1, HK1, TACR2, TSPAN15, NEUROG3, C100RF35, COL13A1

A.1.2 Hip BMC

OLFM3, DNAJA1P5, COL11A1

A.1.3 Femoral Neck CSA

TRAT1, GUCA1C, MORC1, FLJ22763, LINC00488, DPPA2, DPPA4, FLJ25363

A.1.4 Femoral Neck Section Modulus

Chromosome 2:

KIAA1715, EVX2, HOXD13, HOXD12, HOXD11, HOXD10, HOXD9, HOXD8, HOXD-AS2, MIR10B, HOXD4, HOXD3, HOXD-AS1

Chromosome 12:

NAV3

B.1.1 Hip BMD



Figure 21: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 22: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #2



Figure 23: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMD Suggestive Locus #3

B.1.2 Hip BMC



Figure 24: LocusZoom Plot for Hip BMC Suggestive Locus #1

B.1.3 Spine BMC



Figure 25: LocusZoom Plot for Spine BMC Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 26: LocusZoom Plot for Spine BMC Suggestive Locus #2

B.1.4 Head BMC



Figure 27: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 28: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #2


Figure 29: LocusZoom Plot for Head BMC Suggestive Locus #3

B.1.5 Whole Body BMC (Excluding Head)



Figure 30: LocusZoom Plot for Whole Body BMC (Excluding Head) Suggestive Locus #1

B.1.6 Femoral Neck CSA



Figure 31: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck CSA Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 32: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck CSA Suggestive Loci #2

B.1.7 Femoral Neck Section Modulus



Figure 33: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 34: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #2



Figure 35: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #3



Figure 36: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #4



Figure 37: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #5



Figure 38: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #6





Figure 39: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #7



Figure 40: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus Suggestive Locus #8

B.1.8 Femoral Neck Width



Figure 41: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #1



Figure 42: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #2



Figure 43: LocusZoom Plot for Femoral Neck Width Suggestive Locus #3

APPENDIX C: QQ PLOTS FOR BONE PHENOTYPES



Q-Q Plot for Hip BMD

Figure 44: QQ Plot for Hip BMD

Q-Q Plot for Spine BMD



Figure 45: QQ Plot for Spine BMD





Figure 46: QQ Plot for Head BMD









Figure 48: QQ Plot for Hip BMC





Figure 49: QQ Plot for Head BMC

Q-Q Plot for Whole Body BMC (Minus Head BMC)



Figure 50: QQ Plot for Whole Body BMC (Excluding Head)





Figure 51: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck Width



Q-Q Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus

Figure 52: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck Section Modulus





Figure 53: QQ Plot for Femoral Neck CSA

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Bone Health Basics: Get the Facts | National Osteoporosis Foundation. http://nof.org/learn/basics. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 2. Redlich K, Smolen JS. Inflammatory bone loss: pathogenesis and therapeutic intervention. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2012;11(3):234-250. doi:10.1038/nrd3669.
- 3. Mayo Clinic. Oral health: A window to your overall health. http://www.mayoclinic.org/healthylifestyle/adult-health/in-depth/dental/art-20047475. Accessed July 17, 2015.
- 4. Hendrickx G, Boudin E, Van Hul W. A look behind the scenes: the risk and pathogenesis of primary osteoporosis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. 2015;11(8):462-474. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2015.48.
- 5. Boyle WJ, Simonet WS, Lacey DL. Osteoclast differentiation and activation. *Nature*. 2003;423(6937):337-342. doi:10.1038/nature01658.
- 6. Karsenty G, Kronenberg HM, Settembre C. Genetic control of bone formation. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* 2009;25:629-648. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113308.
- 7. Helmberg A. Lecture Notes on Bone Metabolism. 2010:1-16.
- 8. Suuriniemi M. Genetics of children's bone growth. 2006. https://jyx.jyu.fi/dspace/handle/123456789/13184. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 9. Seeman E. Bone quality: the material and structural basis of bone strength. *J Bone Miner Metab*. 2008;26(1):1-8. doi:10.1007/s00774-007-0793-5.
- 10. All About Nutrition & Bone Health | Precision Nutrition. http://www.precisionnutrition.com/all-about-bonehealth. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- Janz KF, Burns TL, Levy SM, et al. Everyday Activity Predicts Bone Geometry in Children: The Iowa Bone Development Study. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2004;36(7):1124-1131. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000132275.65378.9d.
- 12. Paternoster L, Lorentzon M, Vandenput L, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of cortical bone mineral density unravels allelic heterogeneity at the RANKL locus and potential pleiotropic effects on bone. *PLoS Genet*. 2010;6(11):e1001217. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1001217.
- 13. Ralston SH, de Crombrugghe B. Genetic regulation of bone mass and susceptibility to osteoporosis. *Genes Dev*. 2006;20(18):2492-2506. doi:10.1101/gad.1449506.
- 14. Timpson NJ, Tobias JH, Richards JB, et al. Common variants in the region around Osterix are associated with bone mineral density and growth in childhood. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2009;18(8):1510-1517. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddp052.
- 15. Bachrach LK, Sills IN. Clinical report—bone densitometry in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2011;127(1):189-194. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-2961.
- 16. Davies JH, Evans BAJ, Gregory JW. Bone mass acquisition in healthy children. *Arch Dis Child*. 2005;90(4):373-378. doi:10.1136/adc.2004.053553.

- 17. Zemel BS, Kalkwarf HJ, Gilsanz V, et al. Revised reference curves for bone mineral content and areal bone mineral density according to age and sex for black and non-black children: results of the bone mineral density in childhood study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2011;96(10):3160-3169. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1111.
- Kalkwarf HJ, Zemel BS, Gilsanz V, et al. The bone mineral density in childhood study: Bone mineral content and density according to age, sex, and race. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2007;92(January):2087-2099. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2553.
- 19. Bachrach LK. Acquisition of optimal bone mass in childhood and adolescence. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 12(1):22-28. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11137037. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- Levi G, Geoffroy V, Palmisano G, de Vernejoul M-C. Bones, genes and fractures: workshop on the genetics of osteoporosis: from basic to clinical research. *EMBO Rep.* 2002;3(1):22-26. doi:10.1093/emboreports/kvf003.
- 21. Ralston SH. Genetic determinants of osteoporosis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. 2005;17(4):475-479. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15956846. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 22. Warrington NM, Kemp JP, Tilling K, Tobias JH, Evans DM. Genetic variants in adult bone mineral density and fracture risk genes are associated with the rate of bone mineral density acquisition in adolescence. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2015;24(14):4158-4166. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddv143.
- 23. Karsenty G, Kronenberg HM, Settembre C. Genetic control of bone formation. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*. 2009;25:629-648. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113308.
- 24. Karsenty G. The genetic transformation of bone biology. *Genes Dev.* 1999;13(23):3037-3051. doi:10.1101/gad.13.23.3037.
- 25. Javed A, Chen H, Ghori FY. Genetic and transcriptional control of bone formation. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am.* 2010;22(3):283-293, v. doi:10.1016/j.coms.2010.05.001.
- Paternoster L, Lorentzon M, Lehtimäki T, et al. Genetic determinants of trabecular and cortical volumetric bone mineral densities and bone microstructure. *PLoS Genet*. 2013;9(2):e1003247. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003247.
- 27. Styrkarsdottir U, Halldorsson B V, Gretarsdottir S, et al. New sequence variants associated with bone mineral density. *Nat Genet*. 2009;41(1):15-17. doi:10.1038/ng.284.
- 28. Boyce BF, Xing L. Biology of RANK, RANKL, and osteoprotegerin. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2007;9 Suppl 1:S1. doi:10.1186/ar2165.
- 29. Boyce BF, Xing L. Functions of RANKL/RANK/OPG in bone modeling and remodeling. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 2008;473(2):139-146. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2008.03.018.
- 30. Richards JB, Rivadeneira F, Inouye M, et al. Bone mineral density, osteoporosis, and osteoporotic fractures: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2008;371(9623):1505-1512. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60599-1.
- 31. Tzakas P, Wong BYL, Logan AG, Rubin LA, Cole DEC. Transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGFB1) and peak bone mass: association between intragenic polymorphisms and quantitative ultrasound of the heel. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2005;6(1):29. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-6-29.
- 32. Uno JK, Kolek OI, Hines ER, et al. The role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in down-regulation of osteoblast Phex gene expression in experimental murine colitis. *Gastroenterology*. 2006;131(2):497-509. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.05.020.

- 33. Pan Q, Yu Y, Chen Q, et al. Sox9, a key transcription factor of bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced chondrogenesis, is activated through BMP pathway and a CCAAT box in the proximal promoter. *J Cell Physiol*. 2008;217(1):228-241. doi:10.1002/jcp.21496.
- Wang M, Jin H, Tang D, Huang S, Zuscik MJ, Chen D. Smad1 plays an essential role in bone development and postnatal bone formation. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2011;19(6):751-762. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2011.03.004.
- 35. GWAS. https://livewello.com/gwas. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 36. Mitchell JA, Chesi A, Elci O, et al. Genetic Risk Scores Implicated in Adult Bone Fragility Associate With Pediatric Bone Density. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2015. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2744.
- Kemp JP, Medina-Gomez C, Estrada K, et al. Phenotypic dissection of bone mineral density reveals skeletal site specificity and facilitates the identification of novel loci in the genetic regulation of bone mass attainment. *PLoS Genet*. 2014;10(6):e1004423. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004423.
- Chesi A, Mitchell JA, Kalkwarf HJ, et al. A trans-ethnic genome-wide association study identifies genderspecific loci influencing pediatric aBMD and BMC at the distal radius. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2015;24(17):5053-5059. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddv210.
- 39. Saint-Pierre A, Kaufman J-MM, Ostertag A, et al. Bivariate association analysis in selected samples: application to a GWAS of two bone mineral density phenotypes in males with high or low BMD. *Eur J Hum Genet*. 2011;19(6):710-716. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2011.22.
- 40. Mei H, Chen W, Jiang F, et al. Longitudinal replication studies of GWAS risk SNPs influencing body mass index over the course of childhood and adulthood. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(2):e31470. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031470.
- 41. Rivadeneira F, Styrkársdottir U, Estrada K, et al. Twenty bone-mineral-density loci identified by large-scale meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. *Nat Genet*. 2009;41(11):1199-1206. doi:10.1038/ng.446.
- 42. Estrada K, Styrkarsdottir U, Evangelou E, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies 56 bone mineral density loci and reveals 14 loci associated with risk of fracture. *Nat Genet*. 2012;44(5):491-501. doi:10.1038/ng.2249.
- 43. Mann V, Hobson EE, Li B, et al. A COL1A1 Sp1 binding site polymorphism predisposes to osteoporotic fracture by affecting bone density and quality. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;107(7):899-907. doi:10.1172/JCI10347.
- 44. Timpson NJ, Tobias JH, Richards JB, et al. Common variants in the region around Osterix are associated with bone mineral density and growth in childhood. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2009;18(8):1510-1517. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddp052.
- 45. Lorentzon M, Lorentzon R, Bäckström T, Nordström P. Estrogen receptor gene polymorphism, but not estradiol levels, is related to bone density in healthy adolescent boys: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1999;84(12):4597-4601. doi:10.1210/jcem.84.12.6238.
- 46. Jakubowska-Pietkiewicz E, Młynarski W, Klich I, Fendler W, Chlebna-Sokół D. Vitamin D receptor gene variability as a factor influencing bone mineral density in pediatric patients. *Mol Biol Rep.* 2012;39(5):6243-6250. doi:10.1007/s11033-012-1444-z.
- 47. Willing MC, Torner JC, Burns TL, et al. Gene polymorphisms, bone mineral density and bone mineral content in young children: the Iowa Bone Development Study. *Osteoporos Int*. 2003;14(8):650-658. doi:10.1007/s00198-003-1416-1.

- 48. Shishu Huang GC-TN and SY-Q. *Advances in Osteoporosis*. (Dionyssiotis Y, ed.). InTech; 2015. doi:10.5772/58645.
- 49. OMIM Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man. http://www.omim.org/. Accessed March 29, 2016.
- 50. *Microbiology and Aging: Clinical Manifestations*. Springer Science & Business Media; 2008. https://books.google.com/books?id=YzCW-eN60OgC&pgis=1. Accessed March 29, 2016.
- 51. Carter AJR, Nguyen AQ. Antagonistic pleiotropy as a widespread mechanism for the maintenance of polymorphic disease alleles. *BMC Med Genet*. 2011;12(1):160. doi:10.1186/1471-2350-12-160.
- 52. Cashman KD. Diet, Nutrition, and Bone Health. *J Nutr*. 2007;137(11):2507S 2512. http://jn.nutrition.org/content/137/11/2507S.full. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 53. Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. *Osteoporos Int.* 2014;25(10):2359-2381. doi:10.1007/s00198-014-2794-2.
- 54. Facts and Statistics | International Osteoporosis Foundation. http://www.iofbonehealth.org/facts-statistics. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 55. Hunter D, De Lange M, Snieder H, et al. Genetic contribution to bone metabolism, calcium excretion, and vitamin D and parathyroid hormone regulation. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2001;16(2):371-378. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2001.16.2.371.
- 56. Wood CL, Wood AM, Harker C, Embleton ND. Bone mineral density and osteoporosis after preterm birth: the role of early life factors and nutrition. *Int J Endocrinol*. 2013;2013:902513. doi:10.1155/2013/902513.
- 57. Laird E, Ward M, McSorley E, Strain JJ, Wallace J. Vitamin D and bone health: potential mechanisms. *Nutrients*. 2010;2(7):693-724. doi:10.3390/nu2070693.
- 58. Janz KF, Burns TL, Torner JC, et al. Physical Activity and Bone Measures in Young Children: The Iowa Bone Development Study. *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(6):1387-1393. doi:10.1542/peds.107.6.1387.
- 59. Michalopoulou M, Kambas A, Leontsini D, et al. Physical activity is associated with bone geometry of premenarcheal girls in a dose-dependent manner. *Metabolism*. 2013;62(12):1811-1818. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2013.08.006.
- 60. Ward KA, Roberts SA, Adams JE, Mughal MZ. Bone geometry and density in the skeleton of pre-pubertal gymnasts and school children. *Bone*. 2005;36(6):1012-1018. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2005.03.001.
- 61. Crockett JC, Rogers MJ, Coxon FP, Hocking LJ, Helfrich MH. Bone remodelling at a glance. *J Cell Sci.* 2011;124(Pt 7):991-998. doi:10.1242/jcs.063032.
- 62. Cauley JA. Estrogen and bone health in men and women. *Steroids*. 2014;99(Pt A):11-15. doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2014.12.010.
- 63. Vanderschueren D, Vandenput L, Boonen S, Lindberg MK, Bouillon R, Ohlsson C. Androgens and bone. *Endocr Rev.* 2004;25(3):389-425. doi:10.1210/er.2003-0003.
- Amphansap T, Nitiwarangkul L. One-year mortality rate after osteoporotic hip fractures and associated risk factors in Police General Hospital. *Osteoporos Sarcopenia*. 2015;1(1):75-79. doi:10.1016/j.afos.2015.07.006.
- 65. Brauer CA, Coca-Perraillon M, Cutler DM, Rosen AB. Incidence and mortality of hip fractures in the United States. *JAMA*. 2009;302(14):1573-1579. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1462.

- 66. Bone Health and Osteoporosis. http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/docs/HealthNews/Osteoporosis_2014.PDF. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 67. Cauley JA. Public health impact of osteoporosis. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2013;68(10):1243-1251. doi:10.1093/gerona/glt093.
- 68. Medina-Gomez C, Kemp JP, Estrada K, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide scans for total body BMD in children and adults reveals allelic heterogeneity and age-specific effects at the WNT16 locus. *PLoS Genet*. 2012;8(7):e1002718. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002718.
- 69. Osteoporosis Risk Assessment and Primary Prevention | Patient. http://patient.info/doctor/osteoporosis-risk-assessment-and-primary-prevention. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 70. Francis SL, Letuchy EM, Levy SM, Janz KF. Sustained effects of physical activity on bone health: Iowa Bone Development Study. *Bone*. 2014;63:95-100. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2014.03.004.
- Francis SL, Morrissey JL, Letuchy EM, Levy SM, Janz KF. Ten-year objective physical activity tracking: Iowa Bone Development Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2013;45(8):1508-1514. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31828b2f3a.
- 72. preventive-bone-development-study | College of Dentistry and Dental Clinics. https://www.dentistry.uiowa.edu/preventive-bone-development-study. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 73. Ellis KJ, Shypailo RJ, Pratt JA, Pond WG. Accuracy of dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for bodycomposition measurements in children. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1994;60(5):660-665. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7942570. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 74. Binkovitz LA, Henwood MJ. Pediatric DXA: technique and interpretation. *Pediatr Radiol*. 2007;37(1):21-31. doi:10.1007/s00247-006-0153-y.
- 75. Laskey MA. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and body composition. *Nutrition*. 1996;12(1):45-51. doi:10.1016/0899-9007(95)00017-8.
- 76. Bone Health Program | Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) | Boston Children's Hospital. http://www.childrenshospital.org/centers-and-services/bone-health-program/what-is-dxa. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 77. Shaffer JR, Wang X, Feingold E, et al. Genome-wide association scan for childhood caries implicates novel genes. *J Dent Res.* 2011;90(12):1457-1462. doi:10.1177/0022034511422910.
- 78. Home dbGaP NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gap. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 79. Gene Environment Association Studes (GENEVA). https://www.genome.gov/27541319. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 80. Human610-Quad BeadChip Support. http://support.illumina.com/array/array_kits/human610quad_beadchip_kit.html. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 81. Illumina Systems and Software. Infinium II Assay Multi-Sample Protocols.; 2006.
- Zeng Z. Genome-wide Association Studies of Pit and Fissure Surface Caries and Smooth Surface Caries in the Permanent Dentition. 2014. http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/20169/1/Zhen_thesis_ETD_12_2013.pdf. Accessed March 27, 2016.

- 83. Auton A, Abecasis GR, Altshuler DM, et al. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*. 2015;526(7571):68-74. doi:10.1038/nature15393.
- 84. Delaneau O, Howie B, Cox AJ, Zagury J-F, Marchini J. Haplotype estimation using sequencing reads. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2013;93(4):687-696. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.09.002.
- 85. Howie B, Marchini J, Stephens M. Genotype imputation with thousands of genomes. *G3 (Bethesda)*. 2011;1(6):457-470. doi:10.1534/g3.111.001198.
- Howie BN, Donnelly P, Marchini J. A flexible and accurate genotype imputation method for the next generation of genome-wide association studies. *PLoS Genet*. 2009;5(6):e1000529. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000529.
- 87. 1000GP Phase 1 haplotypes 9 Dec 2013. https://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/impute/1000GP_Phase3.html. Accessed March 27, 2016.
- 88. Jin J, Cerise JE, Kang SJ, et al. Principal components ancestry adjustment for Genetic Analysis Workshop 17 data. *BMC Proc.* 2011;5 Suppl 9(9):S66. doi:10.1186/1753-6561-5-S9-S66.
- Price AL, Patterson NJ, Plenge RM, Weinblatt ME, Shadick NA, Reich D. Principal components analysis corrects for stratification in genome-wide association studies. *Nat Genet.* 2006;38(8):904-909. doi:10.1038/ng1847.
- 90. McVean G. A genealogical interpretation of principal components analysis. *PLoS Genet*. 2009;5(10):e1000686. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000686.
- 91. Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, et al. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and populationbased linkage analyses. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2007;81(3):559-575. doi:10.1086/519795.
- 92. PLINK: Whole genome data analysis toolset. http://pngu.mgh.harvard.edu/~purcell/plink/. Accessed March 27, 2016.
- 93. RStudio Open source and enterprise-ready professional software for R. https://www.rstudio.com/. Accessed March 27, 2016.
- 94. Johnson RC, Nelson GW, Troyer JL, et al. Accounting for multiple comparisons in a genome-wide association study (GWAS). *BMC Genomics*. 2010;11:724. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-724.
- 95. LocusZoom Create Plots of Genetic Data. http://locuszoom.sph.umich.edu/locuszoom/. Accessed March 27, 2016.
- 96. ePath3D Online: Software Overview. http://www.epath3d.com/Overview. Accessed March 27, 2016.
- 97. COL13A1 Gene GeneCards | CODA1 Protein | CODA1 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=COL13A1&keywords=col13a1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 98. Koivunen J, Kemppainen A, Haronen H, et al. Collagen XIII in bone homeostasis. 2014. doi:10.1530/boneabs.3.PP108.
- 99. Ylönen R, Kyrönlahti T, Sund M, et al. Type XIII collagen strongly affects bone formation in transgenic mice. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2005;20(8):1381-1393. doi:10.1359/JBMR.050319.
- 100. CDHR1 cadherin related family member 1 [Homo sapiens (human)] Gene NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/92211. Accessed March 26, 2016.

- 101. ATF7 activating transcription factor 7 [Homo sapiens (human)] Gene NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/11016. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 102. Teramachi J, Hiruma Y, Ishizuka S, et al. Role of ATF7-TAF12 interactions in the vitamin D response hypersensitivity of osteoclast precursors in Paget's disease. J Bone Miner Res. 2013;28(6):1489-1500. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1884.
- 103. Hostikka SL, Gong J, Carpenter EM. Axial and appendicular skeletal transformations, ligament alterations, and motor neuron loss in Hoxc10 mutants. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2009;5(5):397-410. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2713654&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract. Accessed August 23, 2015.
- 104. Kruger C, Kappen C. Expression of cartilage developmental genes in Hoxc8- and Hoxd4-transgenic mice. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(2):e8978. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008978.
- 105. Lei H, Wang H, Juan AH, Ruddle FH. The identification of Hoxe8 target genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(7):2420-2424. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409700102.
- 106. Kang M, Bok J, Deocaris CC, Park HW, Kim MH. Hoxc8 represses BMP-induced expression of Smad6. *Mol Cells*. 2010;29(1):29-33. doi:10.1007/s10059-010-0007-1.
- 107. Kacena MA, Gundberg CM, Nelson T, Horowitz MC. Loss of the transcription factor p45 NF-E2 results in a developmental arrest of megakaryocyte differentiation and the onset of a high bone mass phenotype. *Bone*. 2005;36(2):215-223. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2004.09.024.
- Kacena MA, Gundberg CM, Kacena WJ, et al. The effects of GATA-1 and NF-E2 deficiency on bone biomechanical, biochemical, and mineral properties. *J Cell Physiol*. 2013;228(7):1594-1600. doi:10.1002/jcp.24322.
- 109. HNRNPA1 heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1. 2016. https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/gene/HNRNPA1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 110. Okada Y, Kamatani Y, Takahashi A, et al. A genome-wide association study in 19 633 Japanese subjects identified LHX3-QSOX2 and IGF1 as adult height loci. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2010;19(11):2303-2312. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq091.
- 111. Yang G, Fang W, Liu T, et al. Gene expression profiling of bone marrow-derived stromal cells seeded onto a sandblasted, large-grit, acid-etched-treated titanium implant surface: The role of the Wnt pathway. *Arch Oral Biol.* 2016;61:71-78. doi:10.1016/j.archoralbio.2015.10.009.
- 112. Li L, Liu B, Wapinski OL, et al. Targeted disruption of Hotair leads to homeotic transformation and gene derepression. *Cell Rep.* 2013;5(1):3-12. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.003.
- 113. Papenbrock T, Visconti RP, Awgulewitsch A. Loss of fibula in mice overexpressing Hoxc11. *Mech Dev*. 2000;92(2):113-123. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10727851. Accessed August 23, 2015.
- McCabe CD, Spyropoulos DD, Martin D, Moreno CS. Genome-wide analysis of the homeobox C6 transcriptional network in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2008;68(6):1988-1996. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5843.
- 115. Peterson JF, Hartman J, Ghaloul-Gonzalez L, Surti U, Hu J. Absence of skeletal anomalies in siblings with a maternally inherited 12q13.13-q13.2 microdeletion partially involving the HOXC gene cluster. *Am J Med Genet A*. 2014;164A(3):810-814. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.36359.

- 116. CCBE1 collagen and calcium binding EGF domains 1 [Homo sapiens (human)] Gene NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/147372. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 117. Idrus E, Nakashima T, Wang L, et al. The role of the BH3-only protein Noxa in bone homeostasis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2011;410(3):620-625. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.06.040.
- 118. ZNF92 Gene GeneCards | ZNF92 Protein | ZNF92 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=ZNF92. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 119. Udy GB, Towers RP, Snell RG, et al. Requirement of STAT5b for sexual dimorphism of body growth rates and liver gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(14):7239-7244. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=23803&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 120. Ubash3b ubiquitin associated and SH3 domain containing, B [Mus musculus (house mouse)] Gene NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/72828. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 121. HSPA8 Gene GeneCards | HSP7C Protein | HSP7C Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=HSPA8&keywords=hspa8. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 122. ANKRD28 Gene GeneCards | ANR28 Protein | ANR28 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=ANKRD28. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 123. Kahler RA, Yingst SMC, Hoeppner LH, et al. Collagen 11a1 is indirectly activated by lymphocyte enhancer-binding factor 1 (Lef1) and negatively regulates osteoblast maturation. *Matrix Biol.* 2008;27(4):330-338. doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2008.01.002.
- 124. Tegeder I, Lötsch J. Current evidence for a modulation of low back pain by human genetic variants. *J Cell Mol Med.* 2009;13(8B):1605-1619. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00703.x.
- 125. Hafez A, Squires R, Pedracini A, Joshi A, Seegmiller RE, Oxford JT. Coll1al Regulates Bone Microarchitecture during Embryonic Development. J Dev Biol. 2015;3(4):158-176. doi:10.3390/jdb3040158.
- 126. Angelopoulou N, Souftas V, Sakadamis A, Mandroukas K. Bone mineral density in adults with Down's syndrome. *Eur Radiol*. 1999;9(4):648-651. doi:10.1007/s003300050726.
- 127. DSCR4 Gene GeneCards | DSCR4 Protein | DSCR4 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=DSCR4. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 128. Wahli W. PPAR gamma: ally and foe in bone metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 2008;7(3):188-190. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2008.02.005.
- 129. Genetic Determinants of Bone Mineral Density in Men: A Candidate Gene Approach to Studying a Complex Trait. ProQuest; 2008. https://books.google.com/books?id=zmU_aBVyLA4C&pgis=1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 130. Yamashita T, Takahashi N, Udagawa N. New roles of osteoblasts involved in osteoclast differentiation. *World J Orthop*. 2012;3(11):175-181. doi:10.5312/wjo.v3.i11.175.
- 131. Kumanogoh A, Kikutani H. Immunological functions of the neuropilins and plexins as receptors for semaphorins. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2013;13(11):802-814. doi:10.1038/nri3545.
- 132. Tsutsumi T, Kuwabara H, Arai T, Xiao Y, Decaprio JA. Disruption of the Fbxw8 gene results in pre- and postnatal growth retardation in mice. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2008;28(2):743-751. doi:10.1128/MCB.01665-07.

- 133. Bis JC, DeCarli C, Smith AV, et al. Common variants at 12q14 and 12q24 are associated with hippocampal volume. *Nat Genet*. 2012;44(5):545-551. doi:10.1038/ng.2237.
- Chun EH, Kim H, Suh CS, Kim JH, Kim DY, Kim JG. Polymorphisms in neuropeptide genes and bone mineral density in Korean postmenopausal women. *Menopause*. 2015;22(11):1256-1263. doi:10.1097/GME.0000000000454.
- 135. RGPD2 Gene GeneCards | RGPD2 Protein | RGPD2 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=RGPD2. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 136. Meijome TE, Hooker RA, Cheng Y-H, et al. GATA-1 deficiency rescues trabecular but not cortical bone in OPG deficient mice. *J Cell Physiol*. 2015;230(4):783-790. doi:10.1002/jcp.24803.
- 137. Nakamura T, Imai Y, Matsumoto T, et al. Estrogen prevents bone loss via estrogen receptor alpha and induction of Fas ligand in osteoclasts. *Cell*. 2007;130(5):811-823. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.025.
- 138. Bord S, Horner A, Beavan S, Compston J. Estrogen receptors alpha and beta are differentially expressed in developing human bone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2001;86(5):2309-2314. doi:10.1210/jcem.86.5.7513.
- 139. Almeida M, Iyer S, Martin-Millan M, et al. Estrogen receptor-α signaling in osteoblast progenitors stimulates cortical bone accrual. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123(1):394-404. doi:10.1172/JCI65910.
- 140. CD8A Gene GeneCards | CD8A Protein | CD8A Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=CD8A. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 141. PLGLB2 Gene GeneCards | PLGB Protein | PLGB Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=PLGLB2. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 142. Kode A, Mosialou I, Silva BC, et al. FOXO1 orchestrates the bone-suppressing function of gut-derived serotonin. *J Clin Invest*. 2012;122(10):3490-3503. doi:10.1172/JCI64906.
- 143. Iyer S, Ambrogini E, Bartell SM, et al. FOXOs attenuate bone formation by suppressing Wnt signaling. *J Clin Invest.* 2013;123(8):3409-3419. doi:10.1172/JCI68049.
- 144. Teixeira CC, Liu Y, Thant LM, Pang J, Palmer G, Alikhani M. Foxo1, a novel regulator of osteoblast differentiation and skeletogenesis. *J Biol Chem*. 2010;285(40):31055-31065. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.079962.
- 145. TRAT1 Gene GeneCards | TRAT1 Protein | TRAT1 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=TRAT1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 146. Zhou H. The essential role of Stat3 in bone homeostasis and mechanotransduction. *Theses Diss Available from ProQuest*. 2014:1-228. http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/dissertations/AAI3636708. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 147. Zhang H, Hu H, Jin J, et al. Crosstalk between STAT3 and RANK signaling pathways during osteoclastogenesis. *J Immunol*. 2012;188(Meeting Abstracts 1):174.7. http://www.jimmunol.org/cgi/content/short/188/1 MeetingAbstracts/174.7. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 148. STAT1 Sequesters Runx2 to Limit Bone Deposition. *Sci Signal*. 2003;2003(197):tw328-tw328. doi:10.1126/stke.2003.197.tw328.
- 149. NAV3 Gene GeneCards | NAV3 Protein | NAV3 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=NAV3. Accessed March 26, 2016.

- 150. TPTE Gene GeneCards | TPTE Protein | TPTE Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=TPTE. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 151. Villavicencio-Lorini P, Kuss P, Friedrich J, et al. Homeobox genes d11-d13 and a13 control mouse autopod cortical bone and joint formation. *J Clin Invest*. 2010;120(6):1994-2004. doi:10.1172/JCI41554.
- 152. Cobb J, Duboule D. Comparative analysis of genes downstream of the Hoxd cluster in developing digits and external genitalia. *Development*. 2005;132(13):3055-3067. doi:10.1242/dev.01885.
- 153. Zakany J, Duboule D. The role of Hox genes during vertebrate limb development. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* 2007;17(4):359-366. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2007.05.011.
- 154. Chae SW, Jee BK, Lee JY, et al. HOX gene analysis in the osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Genet Mol Biol.* 2008;31(4):815-823. doi:10.1590/S1415-47572008005000019.
- 155. Raines AM, Magella B, Adam M, Potter SS. Key pathways regulated by HoxA9,10,11/HoxD9,10,11 during limb development. *BMC Dev Biol*. 2015;15(1):28. doi:10.1186/s12861-015-0078-5.
- 156. Condie BG, Capecchi MR. Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of Hoxd-3 (Hox-4.1) exhibit anterior transformations of the first and second cervical vertebrae, the atlas and the axis. *Development*. 1993;119(3):579-595. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7910549. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 157. van't Hof RJ, Macphee J, Libouban H, Helfrich MH, Ralston SH. Regulation of bone mass and bone turnover by neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *Endocrinology*. 2004;145(11):5068-5074. doi:10.1210/en.2004-0205.
- 158. Tsuji K, Cox K, Bandyopadhyay A, Harfe BD, Tabin CJ, Rosen V. BMP4 is dispensable for skeletogenesis and fracture-healing in the limb. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2008;90 Suppl 1(Supplement 1):14-18. doi:10.2106/JBJS.G.01109.
- 159. Power J, Poole KES, van Bezooijen R, et al. Sclerostin and the regulation of bone formation: Effects in hip osteoarthritis and femoral neck fracture. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2010;25(8):1867-1876. doi:10.1002/jbmr.70.
- McDonald AC, Schuijers JA, Shen P-J, Gundlach AL, Grills BL. Expression of galanin and galanin receptor-1 in normal bone and during fracture repair in the rat. *Bone*. 2003;33(5):788-797. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14623054. Accessed August 20, 2015.
- 161. Jahr H, van Driel M, van Osch GJVM, Weinans H, van Leeuwen JPTM. Identification of acid-sensing ion channels in bone. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2005;337(1):349-354. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.09.054.
- 162. Zaman G, Saxon LK, Sunters A, et al. Loading-related regulation of gene expression in bone in the contexts of estrogen deficiency, lack of estrogen receptor alpha and disuse. *Bone*. 2010;46(3):628-642. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2009.10.021.
- 163. ACYP2 acylphosphatase 2 [Homo sapiens (human)] Gene NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/98. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 164. Potential genetic link between blood pressure and bone mineral density. *IBMS Bonekey*. 2014;11:594. doi:10.1038/bonekey.2014.89.
- 165. Rodriguez-Martinez A, Alarmo EL, Saarinen L, et al. Analysis of BMP4 and BMP7 signaling in breast cancer cells unveils time-dependent transcription patterns and highlights a common synexpression group of genes. *BMC Med Genomics*. 2011;4:80. doi:10.1186/1755-8794-4-80.

- 166. Ramesh Babu L, Wilson SG, Dick IM, Islam FMA, Devine A, Prince RL. Bone mass effects of a BMP4 gene polymorphism in postmenopausal women. *Bone*. 2005;36(3):555-561. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2004.12.005.
- Zhang F, Qiu T, Wu X, et al. Sustained BMP signaling in osteoblasts stimulates bone formation by promoting angiogenesis and osteoblast differentiation. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2009;24(7):1224-1233. doi:10.1359/jbmr.090204.
- Yamaguchi A, Sakamoto K, Minamizato T, Katsube K, Nakanishi S. Regulation of osteoblast differentiation mediated by BMP, Notch, and CCN3/NOV. *Jpn Dent Sci Rev.* 2008;44(1):48-56. doi:10.1016/j.jdsr.2007.11.003.
- 169. Hall SL, Chen S-T, Gysin R, Gridley DS, Mohan S, Lau K-HW. Stem cell antigen-1+ cell-based bone morphogenetic protein-4 gene transfer strategy in mice failed to promote endosteal bone formation. J Gene Med. 2009;11(10):877-888. doi:10.1002/jgm.1369.
- Okamoto M, Murai J, Imai Y, et al. Conditional deletion of Bmpr1a in differentiated osteoclasts increases osteoblastic bone formation, increasing volume of remodeling bone in mice. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2011;26(10):2511-2522. doi:10.1002/jbmr.477.
- 171. ZNF98 Gene GeneCards | ZNF98 Protein | ZNF98 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=ZNF98. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 172. Mishina Y, Starbuck MW, Gentile MA, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein type IA receptor signaling regulates postnatal osteoblast function and bone remodeling. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(26):27560-27566. doi:10.1074/jbc.M404222200.
- 173. Baud'huin M, Solban N, Cornwall-Brady M, et al. A soluble bone morphogenetic protein type IA receptor increases bone mass and bone strength. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012;109(30):12207-12212. doi:10.1073/pnas.1204929109.
- 174. MMRN2 Gene GeneCards | MMRN2 Protein | MMRN2 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=MMRN2. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 175. SNCG Gene GeneCards | SYUG Protein | SYUG Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=SNCG. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 176. FAM25A Gene GeneCards | FM25A Protein | FM25A Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=FAM25A. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 177. AGAP11 Gene GeneCards | AGA11 Protein | AGA11 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=AGAP11. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 178. GLUD1 Gene GeneCards | DHE3 Protein | DHE3 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=GLUD1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 179. Chi H, Yang X, Kingsley PD, et al. Targeted Deletion of Minpp1 Provides New Insight into the Activity of Multiple Inositol Polyphosphate Phosphatase In Vivo. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2000;20(17):6496-6507. doi:10.1128/MCB.20.17.6496-6507.2000.
- Zheng H-FF, Tobias JH, Duncan E, et al. WNT16 influences bone mineral density, cortical bone thickness, bone strength, and osteoporotic fracture risk. Gibson G, ed. *PLoS Genet*. 2012;8(7):e1002745. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002745.

- 181. Cheon D-J, Tong Y, Sim M-S, et al. A collagen-remodeling gene signature regulated by TGF-β signaling is associated with metastasis and poor survival in serous ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2014;20(3):711-723. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1256.
- Wetzsteon RJ, Zemel BS, Shults J, Howard KM, Kibe LW, Leonard MB. Mechanical loads and cortical bone geometry in healthy children and young adults. *Bone*. 2011;48(5):1103-1108. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2011.01.005.
- 183. Kamiya N, Ye L, Kobayashi T, et al. BMP signaling negatively regulates bone mass through sclerostin by inhibiting the canonical Wnt pathway. *Development*. 2008;135(22):3801-3811. doi:10.1242/dev.025825.
- 184. Baron R, Kneissel M. WNT signaling in bone homeostasis and disease: from human mutations to treatments. *Nat Med.* 2013;19(2):179-192. doi:10.1038/nm.3074.
- 185. Baron R, Rawadi G. Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway to regulate bone formation in the adult skeleton. *Endocrinology*. 2007;148(6):2635-2643. doi:10.1210/en.2007-0270.
- 186. QIAGEN Products for COL11A1 (Human). https://www.qiagen.com/us/shop/genes-and-pathways/genedetails?geneid=19255. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- Stauffer A, Shefa N, Oxford J. Absence of Coll1a1 Downregulates BMP-2 Induced Phosphorylation of Smad1/5/8. *Idaho Conf Undergrad Res.* 2015. http://scholarworks.boisestate.edu/icur/2015/Poster Session/137. Accessed August 20, 2015.
- 188. COL11A1 Gene GeneCards | COBA1 Protein | COBA1 Antibody. http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=COL11A1. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 189. Jash A, Yun K, Sahoo A, So J-S, Im S-H. Looping mediated interaction between the promoter and 3' UTR regulates type II collagen expression in chondrocytes. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(7):e40828. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040828.
- 190. Majewski PM, Thurston RD, Ramalingam R, Kiela PR, Ghishan FK. Cooperative role of NF-{kappa}B and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (PARP-1) in the TNF-induced inhibition of PHEX expression in osteoblasts. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(45):34828-34838. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.152868.
- 191. van der Deen M, Akech J, Lapointe D, et al. Genomic promoter occupancy of runt-related transcription factor RUNX2 in Osteosarcoma cells identifies genes involved in cell adhesion and motility. *J Biol Chem.* 2012;287(7):4503-4517. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.287771.
- 192. Zhou G, Zheng Q, Engin F, et al. Dominance of SOX9 function over RUNX2 during skeletogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103(50):19004-19009. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605170103.
- 193. BioGraph. http://biograph.be/concept/graph/C1413573/C1419771. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 194. Poon AH, Gong L, Brasch-Andersen C, et al. Very important pharmacogene summary for VDR. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2012;22(10):758-763. doi:10.1097/FPC.0b013e328354455c.
- 195. Wang T-T, Tavera-Mendoza LE, Laperriere D, et al. Large-scale in silico and microarray-based identification of direct 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 target genes. *Mol Endocrinol*. 2005;19(11):2685-2695. doi:10.1210/me.2005-0106.
- 196. Shi X, Yang X, Chen D, Chang Z, Cao X. Smad1 interacts with homeobox DNA-binding proteins in bone morphogenetic protein signaling. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274(19):13711-13717. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10224145. Accessed March 26, 2016.

- 197. Roberts DJ, Johnson RL, Burke AC, Nelson CE, Morgan BA, Tabin C. Sonic hedgehog is an endodermal signal inducing Bmp-4 and Hox genes during induction and regionalization of the chick hindgut. *Development*. 1995;121(10):3163-3174. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7588051. Accessed February 12, 2016.
- 198. Francis PH, Richardson MK, Brickell PM, Tickle C. Bone morphogenetic proteins and a signalling pathway that controls patterning in the developing chick limb. *Development*. 1994;120(1):209-218. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/15080380_Bone_morphogenetic_proteins_and_a_signaling_pathw ay_that_controls_patterning_chick_limb. Accessed March 26, 2016.
- 199. Yang X, Ji X, Shi X, Cao X. Smad1 domains interacting with Hoxc-8 induce osteoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(2):1065-1072. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10625647. Accessed August 23, 2015.
- 200. Liu Z, Shi W, Ji X, et al. Molecules mimicking Smad1 interacting with Hox stimulate bone formation. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279(12):11313-11319. doi:10.1074/jbc.M312731200.
- 201. Rawlings JS, Rosler KM, Harrison DA. The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. J Cell Sci. 2004;117(Pt 8):1281-1283. doi:10.1242/jcs.00963.
- 202. Tintle N, Lantieri F, Lebrec J, Sohns M, Ballard D, Bickeböller H. Inclusion of a priori information in genome-wide association analysis. *Genet Epidemiol*. 2009;33 Suppl 1:S74-S80. doi:10.1002/gepi.20476.
- 203. (US) O of the SG. Determinants of Bone Health. 2004. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK45503/. Accessed March 28, 2016.
- 204. Fogel S. Surgical failures: is it the surgeon or the patient? The all too often missed diagnosis of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. *Am Surg.* 2013;79(6):608-613. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23711271. Accessed June 1, 2015.
- 205. Health I of M (US) R on TG-BR for. Newborn Screening as a Public Health Program. 2010. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52731/. Accessed March 29, 2016.
- 206. Ulm E, Feero WG, Dineen R, Charrow J, Wicklund C. Genetics professionals' opinions of whole-genome sequencing in the newborn period. *J Genet Couns*. 2015;24(3):452-463. doi:10.1007/s10897-014-9779-3.
- 207. Ned RM, Sijbrands EJG. Cascade Screening for Familial Hypercholesterolemia (FH). *PLoS Curr*. 2011;3:RRN1238. doi:10.1371/currents.RRN1238.
- McCrindle BW, Kwiterovich PO, McBride PE, Daniels SR, Kavey R-EW. Guidelines for lipid screening in children and adolescents: bringing evidence to the debate. *Pediatrics*. 2012;130(2):353-356. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-1137.
- AAP Updates Schedule of Screening and Assessments for Well-Child Visits. https://www.aap.org/enus/about-the-aap/aap-press-room/pages/AAP-Updates-Schedule-of-Screening-and-Assessments-for-Well-Child-Visits.aspx. Accessed April 27, 2016.
- 210. Ngeow J, Eng C. Population-based universal screening for Lynch syndrome: ready, set... How? *J Clin Oncol*. 2013;31(20):2527-2529. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.50.4373.
- 211. Cragun D, DeBate RD, Vadaparampil ST, Baldwin J, Hampel H, Pal T. Comparing universal Lynch syndrome tumor-screening programs to evaluate associations between implementation strategies and patient follow-through. *Genet Med.* 2014;16(10):773-782. doi:10.1038/gim.2014.31.

- 212. CDC PHG at. Genomics/Genetic Testing/Tier 1. http://www.cdc.gov/genomics/gtesting/tier.htm. Accessed April 27, 2016.
- 213. Doyle L, Cashman KD. The DASH diet may have beneficial effects on bone health. *Nutr Rev.* 2004;62(5):215-220. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15212322. Accessed March 29, 2016.
- 214. Moschonis G, Katsaroli I, Lyritis GP, Manios Y. The effects of a 30-month dietary intervention on bone mineral density: the Postmenopausal Health Study. *Br J Nutr.* 2010;104(1):100-107. doi:10.1017/S000711451000019X.
- 215. Children | Physical Activity | DNPAO | CDC. http://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/basics/children/. Accessed March 29, 2016.
- 216. Detter F, Nilsson J-Å, Karlsson C, Dencker M, Rosengren BE, Karlsson MK. A 3-year school-based exercise intervention improves muscle strength a prospective controlled population-based study in 223 children. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2014;15:353. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-15-353.